Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-23-2018 9:00 AM

Validity and Reliability of the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale in Patients Following Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction

Morgan Jennings, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Bryant, Dianne, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Science degree in Health and Rehabilitation Sciences © Morgan Jennings 2018

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Physical Therapy Commons

Recommended Citation

Jennings, Morgan, "Validity and Reliability of the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale in Patients Following Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction" (2018). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 5633. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/5633

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the validity and reliability of the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale (CR-DVJS) in a population of patients following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction (ACLR). Patients completed two drop vertical jump tasks at 6 and/or 12-months post-operative. One task was recorded using a motion capture system. Four individuals of varying clinical experience served as raters for the CR-DVJS. Rater scores of valgus collapse did not correlate strongly with motion capture measures of knee abduction moment or angle. However, CR-DVJS scores of trunk and knee flexion did demonstrate an association with 3D measures of trunk (rho=0.4-0.5) and knee (rho>0.5) flexion angle. Intraclass correlation coefficients suggested poor to good (0.4-0.9) inter-rater reliability of overall score, moderate (0.5-0.75) or good (0.75-0.9) intra-rater reliability, and good to excellent (0.75->0.9) within session test-retest reliability. Further studies are required to draw definitive conclusions prior to clinical implementation.

Keywords

Anterior cruciate ligament, ACL, anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction, rehabilitation, drop vertical jump, DVJ, validity, reliability

Co-Authorship Statement

This study was designed in collaboration with Dr. Dianne Bryant, Dr. Trevor Birmingham, Dr. Alan Getgood, and Greg Alcock as an extension of a larger ongoing multicenter randomized clinical trial. I was responsible for writing the amendment application to the previous ethics approval. I worked with the staff at Empower Health Research Inc. to create the study database and online assessment form. I created the secure site on Western's OWL platform. I was responsible for data collection with the assistance of clinicians involved in the study. Graduate research students in the Wolf Orthopaedic Biomechanics Laboratory (WOBL) completed the post processing of the motion capture data. I was responsible for data analysis and wrote the original draft of this thesis. Dr. Bryant provided me with suggestions and comments for the final thesis submission.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge the many people who provided me with endless amounts of support and motivation during my two-year thesis completion. I would like to thank:

- Dr. Dianne Bryant for her mentorship and guidance throughout my graduate studies. I am grateful for the time and effort you have put towards my education thus far. Learning from your expertise and leadership has been an absolute pleasure.
- Dr. Trevor Birmingham and Dr. Alan Getgood for providing assistance in project planning and design and for continually checking in throughout its completion.
- Greg Alcock for your clinical insights and efforts in ensuring my project completion with the MClSc students. Also, to you and Melanie Werstine for your time spent training with me. I learned a great deal from you both about patient assessment.
- Kendal Marriott, Mark Packwood, Kaitlyn Maddigan for always making yourselves available and completing patient assessments.
- Sheila Gagnon for her insight regarding the development and use of the CR-DVJS.
- FKSMC and WOBL students who assisted with data collection and patient flow. Especially, Lindsey for handling all motion capture data, Kendal for answering my questions, and to you both for constantly helping me carry equipment.
- FKSMC staff and administration for your assistance with patient organization and recruitment. Andrew and Ryan for also training me around the clinic and to everyone in the physiotherapy area for allowing me space to set up and work with patients.
- The Western Bone and Joint Institute and the CMHR training program for the opportunity to learn in a collaborative atmosphere.
- My fellow grad students and HRSGSS for making my time here more enjoyable. I am thankful for the friendships we've developed and the advice you have all shared.
- My family at WSRC, especially Jenna for the flexibility and support in a workschool-life balance.
- To my friends and family who have encouraged me with love and support every step of the way and have pushed me to reach my full potential. I would not be where I am without you.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Co-Authorship Statementiii
Acknowledgmentsiv
Table of Contents
List of Tables viii
List of Figures x
List of Appendices xi
Chapter 1 1
1 Introduction 1
Chapter 2 3
2 Literature Review
2.1 The Knee Joint Anatomy 3
2.2 The Anterior Cruciate Ligament
2.3 Mechanism of Injury
2.4 Epidemiology 5
2.5 Treatment
2.5.1 Rehabilitation
2.6 Biomechanical Assessment11
2.6.1 Landing Mechanics
2.7 The Clinician-Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale
2.8 Summary
Chapter 3
3 Objectives
Chapter 4

4 Methodology			gy	. 22
	4.1 Eligibility			. 22
	4.2 Study Design			. 22
	4.3 New Test: Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale			. 23
		4.3.1	Drop Vertical Jump	. 24
		4.3.2	Standard Video Recorded Footage	. 25
	4.4 Gold Standard Assessment		Standard Assessment	. 25
		4.4.1	Motion Capture System	. 25
		4.4.2	Motion Capture Post Processing	. 26
	4.5	Sampl	e Size	. 26
4.6 Statistical Analysis			ical Analysis	. 26
		4.6.1	CR-DVJS Variables	. 26
		4.6.2	Motion Capture Variables	. 27
		4.6.3	Concurrent Validity	. 27
		4.6.4	Inter-rater Reliability	. 28
		4.6.5	Intra-rater Reliability	. 28
		4.6.6	Within Session Test-retest Reliability	. 29
C	hapte	er 5		. 29
5 Results				. 29
	5.1 Participant Demographics		pant Demographics	. 29
	5.2 Concurrent Validity			. 30
		5.2.1	Dynamic Knee Valgus	. 30
		5.2.2	Trunk Flexion	. 32
		5.2.3	Knee Flexion	. 33
	5.3 Reliability			. 35
		5.3.1	Inter-rater Reliability	. 35

		5.3.2	Intra-rater Reliability	
		5.3.3	Within Session Test-retest Reliability	
С	hapte			
6	Discussion			
	6.1 Concurrent Validity			
		6.1.1	Dynamic Knee Valgus	
		6.1.2	Trunk Flexion	
		6.1.3	Knee Flexion	
6.2 Reliability			ility	
		6.2.1	Inter-rater Reliability	
		6.2.2	Intra-rater Reliability	
		6.2.3	Within Session Test-retest Reliability	
	6.3	Limita	tions	
С	hapte	er 7		
7	Cor	nclusior	n	
	7.1	Future	Direction	
A	Appendices			
С	Curriculum Vitae			

List of Tables

Table 1. Baseline demographics of anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) reconstructed patients
completing drop vertical jump testing
Table 2. Spearman's rho correlation of peak knee abduction moment and scored level of
valgus collapse on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative
Table 3. Spearman's rho correlation of knee abduction angle and scored level of valgus
collapse on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative
Table 4. Peak knee abduction moment by scored level of valgus collapse on the CR-DVJS at
6 and 12 months post-operative
Table 5. Knee abduction angle by scored level of valgus collapse on the CR-DVJS at 6 and
12 months post-operative
Table 6. Spearman's rho correlation of trunk flexion angle and scored trunk flexion
sufficiency on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative
Table 7. Trunk flexion angle by scored trunk flexion sufficiency on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12
months post-operative
Table 8. Spearman's rho correlation of knee flexion angle and scored knee flexion
sufficiency on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative
Table 9. Knee flexion angle by scored knee flexion sufficiency on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12
months post-operative
Table 10. Inter-rater reliability of overall CR-DVJS score per limb at 6 and 12 months post-
operative
Table 11. Inter-rater reliability of CR-DVJS valgus collapse score per limb at 6 and 12
months post-operative
Table 12. Intra-rater reliability of overall CR-DVJS score per limb at 6 and 12 months post-
operative

Table 13. Within session test-retest reliability of overall	CR-DVJS score per limb at 6 and 12
months post-operative	

List of Figures

Figure 1: Study	y Design	23
-----------------	----------	----

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale Sheet	61
Appendix B: Instruction Booklet for the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale	63
Appendix C: Western Research Ethics Approval	72
Appendix D: Letter of Information and Consent	73

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injury is among the most common injuries of the knee joint.¹ It is a debilitating injury for most athletes and results in compromised function requiring extensive rehabilitation following repair. Reconstructive surgery is a standard treatment option to restore the structural integrity of the joint, although functional deficits can remain.² Despite extensive rehabilitation efforts, a portion of patients are not able to return to sport participation after injury³ and the rate of re-injury is high.⁴ New advancements in standard rehabilitation strategies, specifically those in the end stage of rehabilitation, may offer another method to track and provide feedback on progress, ultimately improving patient outcomes.

Nearly 75% of ACL injuries are non-contact in nature.⁵ Research has focused on understanding this mechanism of injury to reduce overall rates of injury. Literature suggests deficits in neuromuscular and biomechanical control of the lower limb are a primary cause for injury.² Functional testing is becoming an increasingly popular tool in ACL research to assess movement patterns and has been used to identify several modifiable risk factors for ACL injury.^{2,6} Specifically, landing mechanics of the knee, hip and trunk have proven to be important factors contributing to injury.^{5,7} Furthermore, dynamic knee valgus during a drop vertical jump task is a predictive risk factor for ACL injury.⁸

The drop vertical jump (DVJ) is a functional task used to assess landing mechanics, arguably measured most accurately using three-dimensional (3D) motion analysis.⁹ Unfortunately, this type of specialized equipment is not often accessible to clinicians and is not time or cost effective as part of standard rehabilitation.¹⁰ The Clinician-Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale (CR-DVJS) was developed as an alternative means to quantify landing mechanics within a clinical setting to identify risk factors for re-injury that therapists may elect to target prior to encouraging return to high-risk sports.¹¹ This study

is the first to evaluate the validity and reliability of the CR-DVJS in a population of patients following ACL reconstruction.

Chapter 2

2 Literature Review

2.1 The Knee Joint Anatomy

The knee joint is comprised of three main bones in the lower extremity which form three articulating surfaces. These articulations divide the knee joint into two parts. The patellofemoral joint is the articulation between the patella and the trochlea of the femur, and the tibiofemoral joint describes the articulation of the femoral and tibial condyles. ¹²

The knee is classified as a hinge joint because its principal movements are flexion and extension. However, when the knee is in a flexed position rotation of the joint is also possible.¹³ The stability of the joint during these fundamental movements is dependent on the surrounding structures. The quadriceps femoris muscle group, including the vastus lateralis, vastus medialis, vastus intermedius and rectus femoris, are the main extensors of the knee. The hamstrings (semitendinosus, semimembranosus, bicep femoris) are the primary flexors of the knee, although they are assisted by the gracilis, gastrocnemius and sartorius. The popliteus is responsible for medial rotation which initiates flexion from a fully extended position.¹³

The knee joint is also comprised of several passive stabilizers. The joint capsule is a fibrous layer which is attached to the margins of the articular surfaces and internally lined by a synovial membrane.¹⁴ It connects superiorly with the suprapatellar bursa and posteriorly with the bursa under the medial head of the gastrocnemius. The joint is strengthened on either side by the lateral collateral ligament (LCL) and the medial collateral ligament (MCL). The patellar ligament and the medial and lateral patellar retinacula contribute to stabilization on the anterior surface. Posterior support is provided by the oblique popliteal ligament.^{13,14}

Within the joint capsule are additional passive stabilizers. The semilunar cartilages (medial and lateral menisci) are located on the superior articular surface of the tibia.¹⁴ Due to the difference in shape of the medial and lateral condyles of the tibia, the medial meniscus is larger and less curved than the lateral.¹³ Together they act as a buffer to

forces placed through the knee and help stabilize the tibiofemoral joint by increasing the concavity of the tibia.¹² Finally, the two cruciate ligaments are an essential component of the joint stability. They are located in the center of the joint and provide a strong connection between the tibia and femur.¹³ They cross each other obliquely and act to resist both anterior and posterior translation of the tibia.^{12,13}

2.2 The Anterior Cruciate Ligament

The anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) originates from the lateral condyle within the intercondylar notch of the distal femur and passes obliquely to attach to the anterior intercondylar area of the proximaltibia.¹³ Various literature sources report that the ACL is comprised of separate bundles. It is divided into two bundles (anteromedial and posterolateral) which are anatomically and functionally different. The anteromedial bundle is tight in flexion while the posterolateral bundle is tight in extension.¹⁵ The ACL functions to prevent the anterior translation of the tibia relative to the femur and controls rotational movement of the tibia.¹⁶ Additionally, it assists in preventing excessive knee extension, knee varus, and knee valgus movements.¹⁷ The function of the ACL makes it essential for stability and control of the knee during dynamic tasks such as deceleration or an abrupt stop, pivoting, and landing.¹²

2.3 Mechanism of Injury

The ACL may be injured through means of contact or noncontact. Contact injuries occur far less frequently and are often unavoidable collisions during sporting activities. This contact places large external forces on the lower limb, either directly or indirectly, and often results in a valgus collapse of the knee.¹⁸

It has been reported that 70% of ACL injuries are the result of sport participation.¹⁹ The highest incidence of ACL injury occurs during sports with pivoting and cutting maneuvers.^{20,21} Most ACL injuries are noncontact in nature and occur during sudden deceleration such as when cutting, pivoting, or landing in sporting activity.^{5,20,21}

Since noncontact injuries account for nearly 75% of ACL injuries,^{5,18,22} several theories and risk factors surrounding noncontact mechanism of injury have been developed. Griffin et al²⁰ proposed four distinct categories of risk factors: environmental, anatomic, hormonal, and biomechanical. Within these categories, risk factors contributing to the mechanism of injury may be extrinsic or intrinsic. Extrinsic factors are external and are therefore modifiable by the athlete to reduce the risk of injury. These factors are classified as environmental and include equipment, bracing, playing surface, footwear, and type and level of sport. Intrinsic factors are internal and may or may not be modifiable. Nonmodifiable intrinsic factors include anatomical variables such as lower extremity alignment (knee angle and hip angle), joint laxity, and femoral notch size, as well as hormonal influence, sex and age. Modifiable intrinsic factors include body mass index, muscular strength, movement biomechanics, skill level, fatigue, and neuromuscular control.^{5,17,23,24}

Modifiable intrinsic risk factors have been the predominant focus of recent research attempting to better understand the noncontact mechanism of injury. This is largely because it is hypothesized that deficits in neuromuscular control and biomechanical adaptations are the principal mechanism of both primary and secondary injury.² The most prevalent deficit observed involves a combination of knee valgus and internal tibial rotation.^{25–27} This mechanism of valgus collapse, hip adduction and internal rotation has been referred to as the ligament dominant theory.²⁴ Other proposed theories include trunk dominance (poor trunk control during maneuvers), quadriceps dominance (increased quadriceps forces or reduced hamstring recruitment during maneuvers), and leg dominance (leg-to-leg asymmetries).²⁴

2.4 Epidemiology

Anterior cruciate ligament injuries are among the most common and devastating musculoskeletal injuries sustained during sport and activity.² Of all musculoskeletal injuries, the knee is estimated to account for 19-23%²⁸ and of all knee injuries, up to 50% or more are injuries to the ACL.¹ Approximately 100,000 to 250,000 Canadians and Americans are annually effected by ACL injury.^{29,30}

In a 10-year study conducted by Majewski et al³¹, looking specifically at frequency of athletic knee injuries, 37% (6,434/17,397) of patients had sport injuries related to the knee joint. A total of 19,530 sport injuries were documented of which 39.8% were knee injuries. Of all knee injuries documented, ACL injuries had the highest incidence rate of internal knee injuries (20.3%), followed by medial meniscus injury (10.8%), MCL injury (7.9%), lateral meniscus injury (3.7%), LCL injury (1.1%), and PCL injury (0.65%). In total, internal knee injuries accounted for 44.8% of all knee joint injuries and the ACL was injured in 45.4% of cases.³¹

In a population-based study of 535,000 adults aged 13-90 years, knee injuries were found to be the most frequent musculoskeletal soft tissue injury, occurring in 37.2% (1040/2794). Data was collected for a 5-year period from January 1996 to December 2000 by the Edinburgh Orthopaedic Trauma Unit. Of the 1040 knee injuries, 212 (7.6%) were classified as ACL injuries second only to meniscal tear (22.4%). Overall, the incidence of ACL rupture was found to be 8.1/100,000 per year.³²

Several national registries have used the number of surgical reconstructions to estimate the incidence of ACL injury. Although a good resource, it should be noted that not all ACL injuries are treated surgically so part of the patient population is not captured. Based on United States registries, it was estimated 100,000 to 150,000 ACL injured patients undergo reconstruction surgery annually.³³

In 2014, Mall et al³⁴ published updated incidence and trends of ACL reconstruction in the United States. This study examined data collected between 1994 and 2006 using the National Hospital Discharge Survey and the National Survey of Ambulatory Surgery. The incidence of ACLR rose from 32.9 per 100,000 person-years in 1994 to a rate of 43.8 per 100,000 person-years in 2006.³⁴ More recently, Sanders et al³⁵ reported a 21-year population based study including 1841 individuals who were diagnosed with new-onset, isolated ACL injuries from January 1990 to December 2010. The overall age- and sex-adjusted annual incidence of ACL tears was reported as 68.6 per 100,000 person-years with significantly higher rates in males than females (81.7 vs 55.3 per 100,000, P <

0.001). Peak incidence in male patients was between 19 and 25 years, whereas in females the peak incidence was between 14 and 18 years.³⁵

Incidence rates around the world vary slightly. Reports from the New Zealand's national registry collected between July 2000 and June 2005 state an incidence rate of 36.9 per 100,000 person-years for ACL surgeries. This study also reported the mean treatment costs of ACL surgeries to be \$11,157.³⁶ Brazil reports from 2008 – 2014 indicate an overall incidence of 3.49 per 100,000 persons/year with a mean of \$1,145 (US) per ACLR.³⁷ Finland and Sweden report somewhat higher incidence with 60.9³⁸ and 78³⁹ per 100,000 person-years respectively.

Incidence rates have also been found to vary by sex, sport and competition.^{40–42} Beynnon et al⁴⁰ collected first-time noncontact ACL injury data between 2008 and 2012 from various college and high school sports teams. Incidence rates per 1000 athlete exposures were 0.112 for females and 0.063 for males, with females being twice as likely to injure after adjustment for sport and level of play (RR, 2.10; 95% CI, 1.34-3.27). Athletes at the college level were also at significantly higher risk of injury compared to the high school level (Adjusted RR, 2.38; 95% CI. 1.55-3.54).⁴⁰ Similarly, a meta-analysis reported females in basketball and soccer had a three times greater incidence than male players.⁴¹ Although reports of sex incidence varies, it is generally accepted that females sustain a two to eight fold greater rate of injury than do males.⁵ Female athletes have also been reported to be four times more likely to sustain a second ACL injury and six times more likely to sustain a contralateral injury following reconstruction than male athletes.⁴

Furthermore, the incidence rate of a second ACL injury after ACL reconstruction is consistently reported as higher in both the ipsilateral and contralateral knee.^{4,43–45} Paterno et al⁴ reported incidence rate as 15 times greater within 12 months following ALCR when compared to control subjects.⁴ Another study tracked patients for 24 months after ACLR and return to sport and found the incidence rate of second ACL injury to be nearly six times greater than healthy controls (IRR, 5.71; 95% CI, 2..0-22.7; P=0.0003). Of the ACLR patients in this study, 20.5% sustained a contralateral injury and 9.0% sustained a re-tear of the original graft.⁴³

2.5 Treatment

The optimal treatment plan following ACL injury is patient specific. The method of treatment depends on factors such as age, occupation, desired activity and level, and concomitant injuries.^{17,46} The current standard of care for those hoping to return to athletic activity is surgical reconstruction followed by extensive rehabilitation.^{2,46,47} Studies have reported operative management as the treatment option for 76% - 90% of ACL injuries.^{42,48} Over time, the rate of ACLR has increased.^{34,35}

Functional outcomes and the ability to return to pre-injury level of activity following ACLR vary across the literature.² Within the first year following surgery, reports are as low as half returning to sport,⁴⁹ although reports generally range from 60-80%.^{49–51} Arden et al⁵² completed a systematic review with meta-analysis of return to sport rates following ACLR. They reviewed sixty-nine articles reporting on 7556 participants. Findings suggest an average of 81% return to any sport, 65% return to pre-injury level of sport, and 55% returned to competitive level of sport.⁵²

In 2018, Van Yperen et al⁵³ reported results of 50 patients who suffered ACL rupture between 1992-1996 and compared the 10 and 20 year outcomes of non-operative treatment and ACL reconstruction. This retrospective study matched 25 operative and 25 non-operative patients by age, sex, and Tegner activity score prior to injury. Those who were selected to receive operative treatment were those who demonstrated persistent instability after three months of non-operative treatment. Results from this 20-year follow-up conclude no significant difference in the prevalence of knee osteoarthritis between groups upon radiological assessment indicating future disease risk may not be influenced by treatment option. Functional outcomes including the Lysholm score, the International Knee Documentation Committee (IKDC) subjective and objective form, the Knee injury and Osteoarthritis Outcome Score (KOOS), and the one-legged hop test were also not statistically different. However, they did report significant differences in knee stability as demonstrated by the pivot-shift (P<0.001) and Lachman (P=0.002) test. Those who had received reconstruction surgery had greater joint stability.⁵³ These findings are consistent with the objective of ACL reconstruction to provide mechanical stability by repairing the damaged ligament. Thus, part of the rationale for operative management

includes increased mechanical stability which may be important for physical activity by supporting specific maneuvers that are known risk factors of injury.^{2,47,54,55}

Non-operative management involves a direct course of rehabilitation and has also shown good short and long-term outcomes in select patients.^{46,53,56} In 2017, Paterno⁵⁷ completed a review of non-operative patient care and determined a sub-set of the population may benefit from non-operative care based on reports of athletes successfully returning to pivoting and cutting sport without an intact ACL. This work suggests a screening process be developed to identify those likely to be successful non-operative patients. Fitzgerald et al⁵⁸ proposed a screening examination involving the single legged hop test, incidence of giving way, a self-reported global knee function rating, and the Knee outcome survey-Activity of Daily Living Scale (KOS-ADLS). A total of 93 patients were screened and 39 were identified as candidates for non-operative treatment. Of the 28 patients who underwent non-operative treatment, 22 returned to pre-injury level of activity without further instability or reported functional deficit. Snyder-Mackler et al⁵⁹ also suggest ACLR may not be the proper treatment option for all patients due to the lack of evidence demonstrating superiority of operative management.⁵⁹ Regardless of treatment option, risk of re-injury is high. Successful recovery and return to sport requires appropriate rehabilitation over a sufficient period of time.55,60

2.5.1 Rehabilitation

Rehabilitation is an essential part of the treatment process. The main goals are to regain the joint stability and muscle strength, assist patients in reaching optimal functional level, and reduce the risk of re-injury. Over time, the rehabilitation protocol for ACL injuries has been adapted to account for research advancements and to ensure the application of evidence-based practice. Specific examples of adaptations include the shift from post-operative casting, delayed weight bearing and limiting range of motion, to the current practice of earlier intervention, immediate range of motion and weight bearing. ⁶¹

Original criterion-based ACL rehabilitation guidelines were published by the University of Delaware in 1996. In 2012, Adams et al⁶² revised these guidelines to reflect the most current evidence on patient management for isolated ACL reconstruction. These

guidelines include milestone progressions and treatment protocols for each phase of the rehabilitation process. The immediate postoperative phase (week 1) focuses on active and passive range of motion (ROM) and active quadriceps contraction. The early postoperative phase (week 2) continues to increase flexion/extension and begins to incorporate weight-bearing activities. In the intermediate postoperative phase (week 3-5), muscular strength is improved, and balance and neuromuscular re-education exercises are introduced. The late postoperative phase (week 6-8) focuses on remaining impairments and restores full ROM, strength and a normal gait pattern. The transitional phase (week 9-12) continues to progress flexibility, strength and neuromuscular control, as well as focuses on cardiovascular fitness and unilateral strengthening through running progressions. Lastly, agility, plyometric, and sport-specific activities are added and functional testing is used at 4, 5, 6 and 12 months postoperative to determine a patient's readiness for return to sport activity.⁶² These guidelines have been generally accepted, although slight variations across the literature do exist.⁶³ For instance, there is evidence suggesting earlier introduction of neuromuscular and proprioceptive re-education, which more recent protocols have incorporated.⁶⁴ Additionally, exact criteria for return to sport is still relatively inconclusive. Most resources suggest an evaluation of performance on a battery of clinical tests since there is currently no singular test to capture all essential component.62

Functional testing is a valuable tool for proper assessment of limb impairments during dynamic tasks and provides outcome measures to both the therapist and patient.⁶² There is no evidence-based consensus however, as to which functional tests should be used.⁶⁵ Furthermore, there is an absence of standardized, objective criteria to accurately assess an athlete's ability to progress through end stage rehabilitation.⁶⁶ In a systematic review of 264 studies, Barber-Westin and Noyes⁶⁷ found only 13% noted objective criteria required for return to sport.⁶⁷

In 2017, Gokeler et al⁶⁸ suggested a specific test battery to support decision making in the end stages of rehabilitation. The test battery included isokinetic strength tests, the single-leg hop tests, and a jump-landing task assessed with the Landing Error Scoring System (LESS). The LESS is a tool designed to identify potentially high-risk movement patterns

during a jump-landing task. It involves scoring the presence or absence of 17 items including specific trunk, hip, knee, ankle, and foot positioning. This tool has shown good interrater and intrarater reliability and there is evidence of its concurrent validity with three-dimensional (3D) motion analysis.⁶⁹ The test battery has not been assessed for predictive validity of re-injury but highlights the need for multifactorial framework to properly assess injury risk and readiness to return to sport ⁶⁸

The standardized series of single-leg hop tests is one of the most frequently reported functional tests.^{62,65} This includes the single hop for distance, the triple hop for distance, the crossover hop for distance, and the 6-meter timed hop. Measures are averaged, and the limbs are compared using the limb symmetry index which is the performance of the involved limb as a percentage of the uninvolved limb. This test has shown to be a reliable and valid performance based outcome measure for ACL rehabilitation.⁷⁰

Significant advancement in research over the last decade has suggested the importance of identifying deficits to the neuromuscular system and to movement mechanics during late stage rehabilitation. Incorporation of standardized and objective criteria may improve the ability to identify abnormal biomechanics associated with re-injury, which can then be targeted during rehabilitation.⁷¹

2.6 Biomechanical Assessment

Three-dimensional motion capture analysis is considered the gold standard to assess joint kinetics and kinematics during dynamic taks.^{9,10,72} The primary movement patterns responsible for non-contact ACL injury during sport are landing and/or cutting maneuvers.^{73,74} Poor biomechanical control of the lower limb due to neuromuscular deficiencies may predispose athletes to injury when performing these sporting movements.^{8,75} 3D motion capture analysis has the ability to measure and identify potential mechanisms and risk factors associated with ACL injury during functional tasks.⁷⁶ However, there are several disadvantages and barriers to this resource such as the high cost and space required for the equipment, time consuming data collection and analysis, and technical skill/personnel required for the software.^{10,77}

2.6.1 Landing Mechanics

Patient landing mechanics during dynamic tasks are regularly assessed as a means of quantifying dynamic knee control and identifying risk factors for potential injury. The drop landing and the drop vertical jump (DVJ) are among the most documented methods of assessing landing mechanics.^{76,78} The DVJ is a functional test designed to replicate common sporting movements such as a basketball rebound or a volleyball block. Patients drop off a box ~31cm in height, land and immediately perform a maximum vertical jump.^{79,80} This test has demonstrated high within-session reliability (ICC < 0.93)⁸⁰ as well as fair to excellent within-session and between-session reliability for the majority of kinetic and kinematic variables.^{9,81} Test-retest reliability has also proven to be strong for several variables including knee abduction angle at initial contact, peak knee abduction angle at the deepest point of landing, and peak knee abduction moment.⁸² Several other motion capture variables have correlated with abnormalities in landing mechanics which are associated with known modifiable neuromuscular risk factors for both initial and second ACL injury. Specific risk factors of focus have been dynamic knee valgus collapse, lateral trunk lean, trunk flexion, knee flexion and limb asymmetries.

2.6.1.1 Dynamic Knee Valgus

The concept of dynamic knee valgus collapse (combined valgus (or a knee abduction moment) and internal rotation) and its association to ACL injury has gained momentum within the last decade. Although the contribution of valgus forces to ACL injury is still controversial, growing evidence suggests valgus collapse plays a significant role in injury risk and prevention.^{2,5}

Dynamic valgus collapse is a manifestation of poor frontal plane knee control during functional movement tasks.⁸³ The collapse mechanism involves specific movements in the lower limb including hip adduction and internal rotation, knee abduction, internal tibial rotation and ankle eversion.^{4,6} These valgus loading movement patterns, when examined in cadaveric and computational model knee studies, have shown to collectively contribute to increased strain on the ACL thereby putting it at greater risk.^{84–89} When the knee is in greater abduction, ligaments on the medial side of the knee are under more

strain than those on the lateral side. This imbalance may increase strain on the ACL by contributing to an anterior tibial shift with internal rotation.⁸⁴

In a cadaveric study designed to simulate a single limb jump landing, 10 knees were tested for peak relative strain on the ACL under compressive loading with and without valgus moment. Results show strain was 30% larger when under compressive load in valgus and flexion compared to isolated flexion.⁹⁰ Furthermore, valgus loading has been shown to reach strain values high enough to rupture the ACL whereas sagittal plane joint forces alone did not.⁸⁸ An in vivo simulation of the drop vertical jump task found isolated abduction and combined abduction with internal tibial rotation produced the greatest change in ACL and MCL strain from the neutral position. The peak ACL strain was larger than the peak MCL strain when the rotational stimuli was applied.⁸⁹

Similar reports of ACL strain resulting from valgus torque have also been assessed in vivo. During dynamic valgus collapse, a high external knee abduction moment about the knee has been reported. It has been established that knee abduction moment directly contributes to dynamic valgus and joint loading in the lower limb.⁹¹ The valgus collapse landing pattern has been suggested to be ligament dominant technique as opposed to a muscle dominant technique which therefore places a larger load on the ACL.^{92,93} Muscular strength, specifically co-contraction ability of the hamstrings and quadriceps, has been shown to contribute to the dynamic stability of the knee against valgus forces.⁹⁴

In a comparison of 81 male and female athletes, female athletes landed a drop vertical jump with significantly greater total knee valgus as well as greater maximum knee valgus angles. The female athletes also demonstrated increased valgus angles in their non-dominant limb. Results suggest knee valgus is increased with lack of dynamic stability, which in turn may be responsible for the increased injury rates observed in females.⁷⁹

In 2005, Hewett et al⁹⁵ discovered knee abduction moment predicted anterior cruciate ligament injury status with 73% specificity and 78% sensitivity. In this prospective cohort study, 205 female athletes were screened pre-season using a drop vertical jump task and 9 went on to sustain an ACL injury. Injured athletes had a 2.5 times greater knee abduction moment (p<0.001) than uninjured athletes. There was also a significant

difference in knee abduction angle (p<0.05) of injured athletes at both initial contact (8.4° greater; p<0.01) and maximum displacement (7.6° greater; p<0.01).⁹⁵ These findings were supported by another study conducted by Hewett et al⁹⁶ in 2009 that analyzed still video captures of landing and cutting tasks. During these tasks, athletes either sustained ACL injury or did not. Knee abduction angles were found to be the highest in ACL injured females. This difference was significantly greater than male ACL injured athletes and approached significance when compared to the uninjured female controls.⁹⁶

2.6.1.2 Lateral Trunk Lean

Deficits in neuromuscular control of the trunk may lead to uncontrolled lateral trunk movements which influence the biomechanical positioning of the lower limb.⁹⁷ This is especially evident during dynamic tasks such as cutting and landing. In a prospective study assessing the correlation between trunk control and knee ligament injuries, twenty-five male and female athletes were positioned in a multidirectional, sudden force release apparatus. Findings determined that lateral trunk displacement was the strongest predictor of ligament injury.⁹⁸

Poor lateral control of the trunk may increase strain on the ACL through mechanical and neuromuscular mechanisms.^{97,99} During lateral trunk lean, the body's center of mass is transferred to the respective side which shifts the ground reaction force vector (GRFv) lateral to the knee joint center thereby creating a larger knee abduction moment. ^{97,99} In an analysis of still captures observed from video footage, it was determined that female athletes sustaining ACL injury demonstrate greater lateral trunk lean over one leg as well as greater knee abduction than male athletes and control females.⁹⁶ Additionally, a significant relationship between lateral trunk lean and knee abduction moment has been shown in a sample of 24 male and female athletes performing lateral reactive jumps.¹⁰⁰

Furthermore, excessive lateral trunk lean may help to identify modifiable risk factors associated with ACL injury risk, including altered core proprioception as well as hip abductor weakness.⁹⁵ Increased core strength and proprioception improve the body's ability to prevent lateral lean and keep neutral trunk alignment.¹⁰¹ Recent findings also suggest a trend towards negative correlation between dynamic knee valgus and trunk

endurance measured through plank and side plank tasks.¹⁰² A common compensation for hip abductor weakness is contralateral pelvis elevation and ipsilateral lateral lean.⁹⁹ Studies have reported an association between hip muscle weakness and greater knee abduction moment and valgus angle during single leg tasks. This is likely due to the resultant compensatory trunk lateral lean.^{103,104} The internal response to lateral trunk lean includes a larger hip adduction torque which then requires increased strength and recruitment of hip abductors to resist hip adduction and resultant dynamic valgus collapse.¹⁰⁵

2.6.1.3 Trunk Flexion

Trunk positioning in the sagittal plane can influence the demands of the lower extremity and alter biomechanical risk factors commonly associated with ACL injury. ^{99,106} Trunk flexion causes the center of mass of the trunk to move forward which alters the moment about the hip and knee joints.¹⁰⁶ The resultant GRFv is shifted anteriorly which increases the extensor moment at the hip, but decreases the extensor moment at the knee which places less demand on the knee joint.⁹⁹

Greater strain on the knee joint has been suggested when the center of mass is more posterior indicating a more erect landing posture. In an evaluation of 20 athletes performing a single legged landing, subjects who had sustained an ACL injury were found to have a more posterior center of mass relative to the base of support when compared to uninjured controls.¹⁰⁷ An overall decrease in the vertical ground reaction force, and thus force transmitted to the knee joint, has also been found in subjects completing a double leg drop landing with trunk flexion compared to no trunk flexion.¹⁰⁸

In 2010, Pollard, Sigward, and Powers examined kinematics and ground reaction forces in 58 female subjects performing a drop landing task. Subjects were divided into two groups, high flexion and low flexion, based on combined sagittal plane knee and hip flexion angles. Subjects classified as low flexion demonstrated increased knee valgus angles (p=0.02) and decreased energy absorption at the hip (p<0.001).¹⁰⁹

More recently, a 2016 study found similar results in a sample of 50 female athletes performing a drop vertical jump task. This study assessed the association between sagittal plane landing kinematics and neuromuscular activation patterns in the lower limb. These Findings suggested that landing with less hip flexion was associated with higher external knee abduction moment thereby putting the ACL at increased risk of injury.¹¹⁰ Additionally, hip and knee flexion have been shown to increase with trunk flexion during landing which promotes a less erect landing posture.¹⁰⁸ During a flexed posture, hip extensor and knee flexor (gluteus maximus and hamstring) muscle groups are able to produce greater force due to an anterior pelvic tilt.¹⁰⁶ The increased force may result in reduced ACL loading by decreasing knee extension and valgus moment as well as increasing hip extension moment.¹⁰⁶ Furthermore, trunk flexion may protect against ACL strain as a result of quadricep induced anterior shear force acting on the tibia^{99,106} since evidence suggests quadricep activation is reduced when there is increased trunk flexion during a drop landing.^{108,109}

2.6.1.4 Knee Flexion

ACL injury has been frequently reported when the knee is in a position close to full extension^{5,18} which suggests sagittal plane knee movements are important risk factors associated with ACL injury.

Findings from several studies on cadaveric and model knee joints have suggested strain on the ACL is greatly increased when loads are applied with the knee in a relatively extended position (0-45°) compared to a more flexed position.^{111–113} The increased ACL strain in this position is a result of quadriceps contraction^{106,112} as well as the inability of the hamstrings to adequately activate in their outer range to protect against anterior tibial translation.^{106,114} Anterior shear force is the most direct loading mechanism of the ACL. A prediction model examining biomechanical and electromyographic analysis of subjects performing a vertical stop-jump task suggested that knee flexion moment had the greatest influence on proximal tibia anterior shear force. This model also indicated that knee flexion angle and vastus lateralis activity would significantly predict anterior shear force.¹¹⁵ This aligns with results of in vivo studies examining drop vertical jump performance in female athletes. These studies suggest landing in a more erect position with low knee flexion increases activation of the vastus lateralis which may place increased load on the ACL placing it at higher risk of injury.^{109,110}

This is further supported by a 2016 study conducted by Leppanen et al to investigate the biomechanical characteristics of a vertical drop jump task. This study prospectively followed 171 female athletes after completing baseline testing to analyze six biomechanical variables. During the three year study period, 15 new ACL injuries were recorded. Findings suggest low peak knee flexion angle and high peak vertical ground-reaction force (vGRF) were associated with increased risk of ACL injury.¹¹⁶

2.6.1.5 Limb Asymmetry

Limb-to-limb asymmetries have been reported in unilateral and bilateral movement patterns within patients following ACLR. Limb asymmetry has been suggested to increase risk of ACL injury in both the re-constructed and contralateral side and may be predictive of ACL injuries.^{2,95,117–119}

Biomechanical differences between limbs have been identified during drop vertical landing tasks up to four years post ACLR.² In 2007, Paterno et al¹¹⁸ examined the landing and jumping kinetics of female athletes at least two years post reconstruction who had been released for full return to play. In this case control study, 14 females a mean of 27 months post-operative were compared to 18 female controls. Participants completed three DVJ trials to collect kinetic data. Results in female ACLR patients demonstrate increased loading rate (p<0.001) and vGRF (p=0.001) at landing on the uninvolved limb when compared to both the involved limb and control group limb. The involved limb also demonstrated a significantly lower ability to generate force during takeoff (p=0.03).¹¹⁸

A similar unloading pattern has been shown in recent (2018) work completed by Meyer et al comparing knee kinematics of 17 ACLR individuals to 28 healthy controls during a drop vertical jump. This study found a significant difference in knee sagittal plane energy absorption during a drop vertical jump task. ACLR patients had 25% lower values in their involved limb compared to their uninvolved limb (p=0.010) and 18% lower values in their involved limb compared to controls (p=0.018).¹²⁰ Findings suggest limb asymmetry in vGRF and loading within ACLR patients may be a result of a compensation strategy during bilateral landing to unload the involved limb as well as avoid high vertical impact forces.^{118,120,121} Another possibility for limb loading asymmetry may be a deficit in quadriceps strength of the involved limb, which would further explain the decreased force production observed at takeoff.^{118,120}

In 2015. Schmitt et al¹²² investigated the effect of asymmetry of quadricep femoris strength on knee landing mechanics during a drop vertical jump task in patients following ACLR. Seventy-seven ACLR patients were sub-divided into either a high quadriceps or low quadriceps strength symmetry group. The low quadricep group demonstrated worse asymmetry in all variables compared to the high quadricep and control group; whereas there were no differences observed between the high quadricep group and the control group. Following ACLR, quadricep strength asymmetry, defined by the involved limb as <85% strength of the uninvolved limb, resulted in reduced peak knee external flexion moments and vGRF in the involved limb, as well as increased vGRF and higher peak loading rates in the uninvolved limb. In this study, quadriceps strength in the ACLR group predicted limb symmetry during landing after controlling for factors including graft type, meniscus injury, knee pain and patient symptoms.¹²² However, slightly different results were observed in a study of similar design consisting of similar patients who performed a single-leg drop landing. This study also divided ACLR patients (n=103) into high and low-quadriceps subgroups using a calculated quadriceps index for isometric quadriceps strength. Motion capture data was collected to compare differences in landing mechanics with 47 control participants, as well as between limbs of ACLR patients. When performing the single-leg drop landing, both high- and low-quadricep groups demonstrated greater limb asymmetry in knee flexion excursion (p<0.001; p=0.02), peak trunk flexion angle (p < .001; p = 0.03), and peak knee extension moment (p < 0.001; p=0.005) when compared to the control group. The low quadricep group demonstrated greater asymmetry compared to the high quadricep group for these three measures.¹²³ Thus, both studies identify greater asymmetrical patterns in the presence of lower quadricep strength symmetry. When a difference in limb strength exists, the stronger limb may land more posterior to the other which is evident through foot placement. Additionally, one limb may take off or land prior to the other.⁹³

2.7 The Clinician-Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale

The Clinician-Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale (CR-DVJS) is a Beta version tool designed to evaluate biomechanical parameters observed during a drop vertical jump task. It is intended for clinical use during rehabilitation of patients following ACL reconstruction. It was developed to allow clinicians to formulate an objective measurement of the drop jump performance thereby facilitating rehabilitation aimed at improving landing mechanics and tracking patient progress.

The CR-DVJS was developed through expert consensus using a modified Delphi approach. Agreement was \geq 92.9% for both the scale and the accompanying booklet which includes instructions with visual examples, a rationale, and possible interpretation for each scale component.¹¹ The scale includes brief instructions (Appendix A). The full instruction booklet is included in Appendix B.

The CR-DVJS records whether each limb is affected or unaffected and provides an overall score for each side. It uses a 10-point scale ranging from 0 - 9 according to the DVJ performance with zero indicating perfect completion of the task. It includes two main components to identify joint positioning and compensatory movement patterns associated with ACL injury risk. The first being the level of *knee valgus collapse* (none, some, moderate, extreme), which denotes the greatest indication of performance, and the second being the presence of *other undesirable movements* (lateral trunk lean, insufficient trunk flexion, insufficient knee flexion, asymmetry). As described in the instruction booklet, the clinician observes at least three repeated DVJ tasks and should check the appropriate corresponding boxes on the scale to complete a final score. It is advised to assess the jump from varying positions to observe the movement in different planes.¹¹

2.8 Summary

The ACL is one of the most frequently injured structures in the knee, often requiring surgical reconstruction and extensive rehabilitation. Despite current surgical procedures

and rehabilitation techniques, rates of re-injury in both the ipsilateral and contralateral knee remain quite high. Additionally, many athletes are unable to return to their previous level of physical activity/sport and the optimal return to sport guidelines have yet to be determined.

Researchers have identified neuromuscular imbalances and biomechanical deficits present after ACL injury and reconstruction that are associated with re-injury risk. Biomechanical assessment to evaluate the kinetics and kinematics of a functional task, such as the drop vertical jump, have been shown to be an effective way to identify high risk patients. 3D motion analysis is the current gold standard for biomechanical assessment but is not accessible or feasible for standard clinical use.

Current rehabilitation protocols are lacking standardized and objective criteria to evaluate functional tasks and the risk of re-injury in the end stage of rehabilitation. Patients would benefit from clinicians' ability to identify and target high risk movement patterns. The CR-DVJS was developed as a more accessible and feasible tool for clinicians to evaluate patient biomechanics during a drop vertical jump task. However, the scale has yet to be assessed for evidence of validity and reliability.

Chapter 3

3 Objectives

The objective of this study was to evaluate the measurement properties of the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale in patients following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Specifically, we evaluated concurrent validity, inter-rater reliability, intra-rater reliability, and test-retest reliability. We hypothesized a strong association (rho > 0.5) between observer scores of scale components and 3D measures of performance as well as good scale reliability (ICC \ge 0.7).

Chapter 4

4 Methodology

The following study was a sub-study of an ongoing randomized control trial (NCT02018354) conducted by researchers at the Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic. This study included only patients recruited from this center following institutional approval by the Health Sciences Research Ethics Board (HSREB) at Western University (Appendix C). Patients were presented with an updated Letter of Information (Appendix D) and gave informed consent to participate in the sub-study.

4.1 Eligibility

Participant eligibility was determined by eligibility criteria in accordance with recruitment for the ongoing randomized trial. Specifically, patients were eligible if they (1) were between age 15-25 years; (2) had an ACL deficient knee with instability defined by at least two of the following – grade 2 pivot shift or higher, participation in a pivoting sport at a competitive level, and/or generalized ligamentous laxity; (3) were willing to undergo ACL reconstructive surgery.

Patients were ineligible if they had (1) a previous ACL reconstruction on either knee; (2) bilateral ACL insufficiency; (3) asymmetric varus knee alignment greater than three degrees; (4) a multi-ligament injury where two or more ligaments required surgical repair or reconstruction; (5) an articular cartilage defect that required treatment other than debridement; (6) were unable to speak, understand, or read English; (7) a psychiatric illness or cognitive impairment that precluded informed consent; (8) were unwilling to participate.

4.2 Study Design

Patients completed study testing during their 6 and/or 12-month post-operative follow-up visit. During each visit the patient completed two drop vertical jump (DVJ) tasks; the first in the Wolf Orthopaedic Biomechanics Laboratory (WOBL) using the motion capture analysis system and standard video recording, and the second in the Fowler Kennedy

Sport Medicine Clinic (FKSMC) physiotherapy gym. Sessions took place approximately 30 minutes apart, during which time they completed additional testing. A total of four examiners of varying experience evaluated knee landing biomechanics and served as raters for the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale (CR-DVJS). Figure 1 displays the study design.

Figure 1: Study Design



4.3 New Test: Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale

The CR-DVJS is a Beta version tool developed through expert consensus using a modified Delphi approach. This study was the first to examine the measurement properties of the tool and to use it in a clinical setting to assess drop vertical jumps completed by patients following ACL reconstruction.

When using this tool, the standardized protocol outlined in the Instruction Booklet for the CR-DVJS was followed. The rater observed five repeated drop vertical jumps on a verbal "go" signal – three from the front and then two from each side to observe the movements in varying planes. The scale was completed by checking off the appropriate boxes based on the observed joint positioning and compensatory movements during the initial contact

through to the deepest point of the first landing. All movements were recorded, even if they were only observed once.

Prior to data collection, the Researcher and Clinician 1 reviewed the instruction booklet to verify definitions of each of the scale components. They independently evaluated at least three practice DVJ tasks to become familiar with the tool. The Researcher received additional training with two FKSMC physiotherapists uninvolved in the study to ensure proper identification of joint positioning and compensatory movements. The designated expert clinicians (Clinician 2 and 3) did not receive training aside from individually reading the Instruction Booklet.

Paper CR-DVJS evaluations were kept in a secure location until the end of data collection when results could be inputted by the author electronically. Electronic CR-DVJS evaluations were stored in a secure web-based data management system (EmPower Health Research, Inc, www.empowerhealthresearch.ca). Observations were not discussed or shared between evaluators to control for experimenter bias.

4.3.1 Drop Vertical Jump

The drop vertical jump protocol defined in the Instruction Booklet for the CR-DVJS was followed. Patients were instructed to start by standing on a 30cm box, feet shoulder-width apart (~35 cm) with the toes overhanging the edge. Patients were then instructed to drop off the box with both feet at the same time, land on both feet, and perform a maximum vertical jump landing within the designated area. This area was defined in WOBL by the two force plates. In the FKSMC physiotherapy clinic, this area was defined by a taped square pattern on the floor identical in size to the WOBL force plate measurements. Trials were excluded and repeated if the patient did not land in the designated area during either landing phase of the task. The same box was used in both locations to standardize the testing protocol. All patients received the same set of verbal instructions prior to completing each DVJ task. They were allowed one practice jump without evaluation or recording to ensure they understood the instructions and could perform the task.

4.3.2 Standard Video Recorded Footage

A Nixon Coolpix B500 camera was used to video record patient testing in the lab (WOBL). To comply with the scale instructions, a total of five drop vertical jumps were recorded – three from the front and one from each side. Videos were reviewed by raters once in real time to best simulate an in-person visit and complete the CR-DVJS evaluation. Clinician 2 and 3 independently reviewed the video footage in a designated location on two separate occasions at least two weeks apart to avoid recall. The Researcher reviewed video footage once at least one month following the original in person evaluation. The CR-DVJS evaluation was directly inputted by each rater into the online form on Empower while observing the video footage. Each of these raters were provided a unique username and password to access each patient's form by searching the anonymous patient ID number. Video footage was stored in OWL – a secure online system which was only accessible by the raters involved in the research project. Each rater had a password protected account set up through OWL to access videos within files listed by patient ID number.

4.4 Gold Standard Assessment

4.4.1 Motion Capture System

The gold standard assessment was collected using an 11-camera three-dimensional motion analysis system (Cortex, Motion Analysis Corporation, Santa Rosa, CA, USA) and three floor-mounted force plates (Advanced Mechanical Technology, Watertown, MA, USA). The system was calibrated each morning by WOBL research students to ensure synchronization of the cameras with each other and with the force plates. Patients were fitted with twenty-nine adhesive reflective markers placed on anatomical landmarks. Markers were placed by the author and consistent WOBL research students. Static trials were collected to determine relative marker orientation, body mass, and virtual joint centers. After performing three static trials of patients standing for three seconds on the drop jump box, four markers were removed from the patient. These markers were used to determine the virtual joint centers and were located on the medial
knee joint lines and the medial malleoli. A total of five drop vertical jumps were then performed by the patient. Kinematic and kinetic data were recorded at 120 Hz and 1200 Hz respectively. Trials were repeated if the patient landed with their feet off the force plate on either landing phase of the task.

4.4.2 Motion Capture Post Processing

Research students and volunteers working in WOBL as part of the on-going larger RCT tracked all patient trials. The three static trials were used to determine virtual hip, knee and ankle joint centers as well as relative marker orientation and body mass. Specific software was used to create body segments between markers (Skeleton Builder engine within Cortex) and to scale body segment masses according to each individual (Mass Model Editor). Variables of interest were then calculated within Cortex and graph data was exported. Exported data was processed using a Butterworth filter with an input frequency of 12 Hz while force plate data was filtered at 100 Hz. The data was then supplied to the author to be sorted for variables of interest to be used in the current project.

4.5 Sample Size

The sample size was calculated *a priori* for reliability using an ICC of at least 0.75, an alpha of 0.05, beta of 0.2, and a confidence interval width of 0.2. It was determined that 75 patients were necessary if there were two raters. Our aim was to recruit 75 patients.

4.6 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 25 (IBM Corp., Armonk NY). The weighted kappa extension was added to the software to complete our analyses.

4.6.1 CR-DVJS Variables

From the DVJ's completed in WOBL, there were a total of four CR-DVJS scores generated for each patient (two in-person and two via standard video recording). From the DVJ's completed in the physiotherapy clinic, there were two CR-DVJS scores

generated per patient. We used intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) to estimate absolute agreement between scores. An ICC of <0.5 was classified as poor reliability, 0.5-0.75 as moderate, 0.75-0.9 as good, and >0.9 as excellent.¹²⁴

We also evaluated the validity of the individual scale components of knee valgus collapse, trunk flexion, and knee flexion, compared with observations made using the motion capture system. We used Spearman's rank order correlation to estimate magnitude of association. A correlation coefficient of 0.1 was classified as weak, 0.3 as moderate, and >0.5 was considered a strong correlation.^{125,126}

4.6.2 Motion Capture Variables

We generated the following variables from the motion capture: peak knee abduction moment (KAM) produced during the initial landing phase of the DVJ task (normalized to patient body weight and height), knee abduction angle, knee flexion angle, and trunk flexion angle.

4.6.3 Concurrent Validity

To investigate concurrent validity, we compared CR-DVJS observations from the inperson assessment in the biomechanics laboratory (Researcher and Clinician 1) with the motion capture measurements. We estimated the magnitude of the association between the CR-DVJS component and the corresponding variable generated by the motion capture system. Specifically, we estimated the magnitude of the association between the CR-DVJS rating of "dynamic knee valgus" and the peak knee abduction moment (KAM) and knee abduction angle (KAA); the CR-DVJS component of "insufficient trunk flexion" and trunk flexion angle (TFA); the CR-DVJS component "insufficient knee flexion" and the knee flexion angle (KFA). We hypothesized that if the CR-DVJS was valid, then the rating on the CR-DVJS and the corresponding variable generated by the motion capture system should be highly correlated (rho>0.5).

In addition, the data for each motion capture variable was sorted according to the scoring on the corresponding CR-DVJS component to observe differences between groups. KAM and KAA data were grouped by scored level of dynamic knee valgus (none, some, moderate, extreme). TFA and KFA data were sorted into two groups (sufficient/insufficient) determined by scoring of trunk and knee flexion respectively. We hypothesized that mean values from motion capture data would differ between groups indicting the ability of the scale to accurately discriminate between each level of valgus and the presence or absence of flexion motions. Specifically, the mean of KAM and KAA should increase with each level of dynamic valgus, and the mean of KFA and TFA should be lower when classified as insufficient.

4.6.4 Inter-rater Reliability

To investigate inter-rater reliability, we calculated ICC for absolute agreement between overall scores on the CR-DVJS for the affected and unaffected limb at 6 and 12 months post-operative. A two-way mixed effects model was used to examine the two in-person raters in the lab (Researcher and Clinician 1), and between each of the experts assessments and the researcher's video assessment. The video assessment was used to maintain consistency with the expert analysis. A two-way random effects model was used to examine agreement between the two expert raters' (Clinician 2 and 3) first video assessment.

The largest component of the scale, dynamic knee valgus, was also analyzed between each pair of raters (Researcher and Clinician 1; Clinician 2 and 3; Researcher and Clinician 2; Researcher and Clinician 3). The agreement between scoring the level of knee valgus as none, some, moderate, or extreme, was calculated for the affected and unaffected limb using a weighted Kappa. This analysis was completed using a 4x4 crosstabulation between each pair of raters.

4.6.5 Intra-rater Reliability

To investigate intra-rater reliability of the expert clinicians, we calculated two-way mixed effects ICC for absolute agreement between the two overall scores per affected/unaffected limb at 6 and 12 months. These two scores were completed by the rater (Clinician 2 and 3) on separate occasions at least two weeks apart but were an evaluation of the same DVJ task. This was accomplished using the standard video recorded footage from the lab and the online platform OWL.

For the research student, agreement was analyzed between the original in-person lab evaluation and the evaluation of the video footage using ICC. This type of intra-rater reliability assessed agreement between each method of observation to determine if there was a difference in the researcher's in-person and video scores.

4.6.6 Within Session Test-retest Reliability

To investigate within session test-retest reliability, we calculated two-way mixed effects ICC for absolute agreement between the overall scores per affected/unaffected limb of the lab and clinic evaluations. This was analyzed at 6months and 12 months for both the Researcher and Clinician 1.

Chapter 5

5 Results

5.1 Participant Demographics

A total of 20 patients completed testing at six months follow-up and an additional 17 patients completed testing at twelve months only for a total of 37 patients at twelve months follow-up. Demographic characteristics are displayed below (Table 1).

Table 1.	Baseline	demograpł	nics of anter	ior cruciate	ligament (A	CL) reconstru	ucted
patients	completir	ng drop vei	tical jump t	testing			

Characteristics	6 month Participants (n = 20)	12 month Participants (n = 37)
Sex, n (%)		
Male	9 (42.9)	15 (40.5)
Mean Age \pm SD (yrs)	19.8 ± 2.5	19.1 ± 2.5
Mean Height ± SD (cm)	172.8 ± 8.6	171.8 ± 8.8
Mean Weight \pm SD (kg)	74.1 ± 10.6	73.2 ± 13
BMI \pm SD (kg/m ²)	24.8 ± 3.1	24.7 ± 3.5
Operative Limb, n (%) Left	8 (38.1)	21 (56.8)

5.2 Concurrent Validity

All 20 patients at six months were included in analysis. Clinician 1 scored 34 patients at 12 months to include in analysis while all 37 patients were included for the researcher analysis.

5.2.1 Dynamic Knee Valgus

There was a generally weak to moderate correlation between scored level of valgus collapse and the motion capture measurements (Table 2 and 3). Knee abduction angle demonstrated a statistically significant moderate and strong correlation in the affected limb at the six-month time point for the Researcher and Clinician 1 respectively.

Results did not demonstrate the expected stepwise increase of mean values per scoring group of none to extreme level of dynamic valgus collapse. Both peak knee abduction moment (Table 4) and knee abduction angle (Table 5) had similar means across all scores for the researcher and clinician 1 at 6 and 12-month follow-up. Although no significant differences between groups were observed, the mean of the extreme valgus group was generally higher than the mean of the no valgus group.

	<u> </u>	<u>ths</u>	12 months		
	Correlation coefficient	p-value	Correlation coefficient	p-value	
Researcher					
Affected Limb	0.26	0.28	0.36	0.03	
Unaffected Limb	0.26	0.28	0.39	0.02	
Clinician 1					
Affected Limb	0.09	0.70	0.18	0.30	
Unaffected Limb	0.37	0.10	0.28	0.11	

 Table 2. Spearman's rho correlation of peak knee abduction moment and scored

 level of valgus collapse on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative

	6 mon	ths	12 months		
	Correlation coefficient	p-value	Correlation coefficient	p-value	
Researcher					
Affected Limb	0.48	0.03	-0.02	0.90	
Unaffected Limb	0.32	0.17	-0.15	0.93	
Clinician 1					
Affected Limb	0.67	0.001	-0.13	0.45	
Unaffected Limb	0.36	0.11	0.08	0.66	

Table 3. Spearman's rho correlation of knee abduction angle and scored level ofvalgus collapse on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative

Table 4. Peak knee abduction moment by scored level of valgus collapse on the CR-

		<u>6 months</u>				12 months			
	n	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	n	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	
Researcher Scores									
Affected Limb									
None	1	20.3 (-)	20	20	5	15.4 (7)	6	23	
Some	7	15.0 (12)	-0.2	34	14	24.1 (27)	-5	87	
Moderate	7	18.4 (18)	5	54	15	25.9 (13)	0.7	59	
Extreme	5	24.3 (9)	13	36	3	28.6 (13.1)	17	42	
Unaffected Limb									
None	1	0.7 (-)	0.7	0.7	4	12.8 (8)	5	21	
Some	7	20.7 (18)	5	60	14	9.7 (13)	-3	47	
Moderate	8	17.4 (9)	1	35	17	20.5 (17)	-7	60	
Extreme	4	18.8 (8)	6	27	2	46.8 (34)	23	71	
Clinician 1 Scores									
Affected Limb									
None	1	20.3 (-)	20	20	3	13.3 (8)	6	22	
Some	7	18.8 (19)	-0.2	54	10	24.5 (27)	7	87	
Moderate	8	17.6 (18)	5	36	15	26.0 (15)	-5	50	
Extreme	4	19.6 (20)	9	32	6	21.5 (21)	0.7	59	
Unaffected Limb									
None	1	0.7 (-)	0.7	0.7	3	15.5 (7)	7	21	
Some	6	14.8 (7)	5	24	10	6.7 (9)	-3	24	
Moderate	6	22.5 (19)	1	60	16	21.7 (16)	-2	60	
Extreme	7	19.5 (8)	6	27	5	26.5 (32)	-7	71	
Note: A negative value indicates adduction moment rather than abduction.									

DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative

		6 months				12 months			
	n	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	n	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	
Researcher Scores									
Affected Limb									
None	1	4.0 (-)	4	4	5	-2.1 (4)	-8	2	
Some	7	1.5 (8)	-7	19	14	7.2 (8)	-4	24	
Moderate	7	10.6 (10)	-5	26	15	4.2 (8)	-8	20	
Extreme	5	9.9 (3)	5	14	3	-2.4 (3)	-5	0.8	
Unaffected Limb									
None	1	1.6 (-)	2	2	4	6.9 (8)	-0.5	16	
Some	7	1.4 (4)	-3	7	14	4.5 (9)	-6	26	
Moderate	8	3.8 (7)	-6	16	17	4.9 (7)	-9	23	
Extreme	4	9.2 (10)	0.8	20	2	2.0 (3)	-0.3	4	
Clinician 1 Scores									
Affected Limb									
None	1	4.0 (-)	4	4	3	-0.8 (2)	-1	2	
Some	6	0.8 (7)	-7	12	10	7.2 (10)	-8	24	
Moderate	6	5.2 (8)	-5	19	15	5.1 (8)	-8	20	
Extreme	7	14.0 (6)	7	26	6	-0.4 (4)	-5	6	
Unaffected Limb									
None	1	1.6 (-)	2	2	3	5.7 (9)	-0.5	16	
Some	7	0.5 (5)	-6	7.4	10	2.7 (6)	-6	16	
Moderate	7	5.0 (7)	-0.6	16	16	5.5 (7)	-2	23	
Extreme	5	7.8 (9)	0.8	20	5	5.4 (13)	-9	26	
Note: A negative value indicates adduction angle rather than abduction.									

Table 5. Knee abduction angle by scored level of valgus collapse on the CR-DVJS at6 and 12 months post-operative

5.2.2 Trunk Flexion

There was a moderate correlation between trunk flexion angle and scoring of trunk flexion (Table 6).

Results are consistent with the hypothesis of lower mean TFA for those with observed insufficient trunk flexion (Table 7). There was a difference in TFA between those scored as sufficient/insufficient by either rater at both time points. This difference was statistically significant at 12 months post-operative for the researcher (p=0.002) and clinician 1 (p=0.001).

	6 mon	ths	12 months		
	Correlation coefficient	p-value	Correlation coefficient	p-value	
Researcher					
Affected Limb	0.45	0.05	0.49	0.002	
Unaffected Limb	0.45	0.05	0.49	0.002	
Clinician 1					
Affected Limb	0.20	0.39	0.39	0.03	
Unaffected Limb	0.20	0.39	0.38	0.03	

Table 6. Spearman's rho correlation of trunk flexion angle and scored trunk flexionsufficiency on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative

Table 7. Trunk flexion angle by scored trunk flexion sufficiency on the CR-DVJS at

6	and	12	months	post-o	perative
---	-----	----	--------	--------	----------

	<u>6 months</u>					12 months			
	n	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	n	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	
Researcher Scores									
Affected Limb									
Sufficient	3	85.0 (8)	76	91	16	81.8 (17)	45	103	
Insufficient	17	60.4 (21)	25	96	21	64.8 (14)	36	86	
Unaffected Limb									
Sufficient	3	85.0 (8)	76	91	16	81.8 (17)	45	103	
Insufficient	17	60.4 (21)	25	96	21	64.8 (14)	36	86	
Clinician 1 Scores									
Affected Limb									
Sufficient	2	77.0 (1)	76	78	9	82.8 (11)	64	97	
Insufficient	18	62.7 (22)	25	96	25	67.6 (18)	36	103	
Unaffected Limb									
Sufficient	2	77.0 (1)	76	78	9	82.8 (11)	64	97	
Insufficient	18	62.7 (22)	25	96	25	67.6 (18)	36	103	

5.2.3 Knee Flexion

There was a strong correlation between knee flexion angle and scoring of knee flexion (Table 8).

Results are consistent with the hypothesis of lower mean KFA for those with observed insufficient knee flexion (Table 9). There was a difference in KFA between those scored

as sufficient/insufficient by either rater at both time points. This difference was statistically significant at 12 months post-operative (p=0.0001). It was also significantly different between all but one 6-month comparison (R Aff: p=0.008; R Unaff: p=0.001; C1 Aff: p=0.087; C1 Unaff: p=0.027).

 Table 8. Spearman's rho correlation of knee flexion angle and scored knee flexion

 sufficiency on the CR-DVJS at 6 and 12 months post-operative

	<u>6 mon</u>	ths	<u>12 months</u>		
	Correlation p-value coefficient		Correlation coefficient	p-value	
Researcher					
Affected Limb	0.55	0.01	0.65	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.60	0.006	0.66	< 0.0001	
Clinician 1					
Affected Limb	0.47	0.04	0.64	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.47	0.04	0.67	< 0.0001	

Table 9.	Knee flexi	on angle by sc	ored knee flexi	on sufficiency	on the CR-DV	JS at 6

and 12 months post	t-operative
--------------------	-------------

	<u>6 months</u>			<u>12 mont</u>	t <u>hs</u>	lin Max			
	n	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	n	Mean (SD)	Min	Max	
Researcher Scores									
Affected Limb									
Sufficient	3	92.7 (11)	84	105	10	101.6 (15)	77	122	
Insufficient	17	67.2 (14)	49	104	27	74.5 (13)	47	95	
Unaffected Limb									
Sufficient	3	97.7 (6)	91	103	10	102 (12)	84	115	
Insufficient	17	65.2 (14)	41	95	27	76.5 (12)	51	93	
Clinician 1 Scores									
Affected Limb									
Sufficient	3	85.6 (2)	84	88	12	98.6 (15)	77	122	
Insufficient	17	68.5 (16)	49	105	22	74.1 (13)	47	95	
Unaffected Limb									
Sufficient	3	90.1 (13)	76	103	12	99.3 (12)	84	115	
Insufficient	17	66.6 (15.9)	41	99	22	75.7 (12.4)	51	93	

5.3 Reliability

5.3.1 Inter-rater Reliability

The scores of all 20 six-month patients were analyzed. Number of patients analyzed at 12 months varied due to missing data from either clinician absence or video error. For the researcher – clinician 1 comparison, 34 patients were included in analysis. For all other comparison rater groups, 36 patients were analyzed. The overall score on the CR-DVJS demonstrated moderate (0.5-0.75) or good (0.75-0.9) reliability between raters at both six months and twelve months post-operative (Table 10).

The agreement between raters scoring the level of dynamic knee valgus collapse (Table 11) also demonstrated moderate to good (0.4-0.8) reliability between the Researcher and Clinician 1 and the two expert clinicians. Agreement between the researcher and expert clinicians was slightly lower demonstrating fair to moderate (0.2-0.6) reliability.

D. t. C.	6 months		12 months	
Rater Group	ICC (95% CI)	p-value	ICC (95% CI)	p-value
Researcher – Clinician 1				
Affected Limb	0.79 (0.55 – 0.91)	< 0.0001	0.78 (0.53 – 0.89)	< 0.0001
Unaffected Limb	0.90 (0.75 - 0.96)	< 0.0001	0.85 (0.64 - 0.93)	< 0.0001
Clinician 2 – Clinician 3				
Affected Limb	0.64 (0.27 – 0.84)	0.001	0.64 (0.41 - 0.80)	< 0.0001
Unaffected Limb	0.41 (-0.02 – 0.71)	0.031	0.52 (0.20 - 0.73)	< 0.0001
Researcher – Clinician 2				
Affected Limb	0.77 (0.51 - 0.90)	< 0.0001	0.52 (0.24 - 0.72)	< 0.0001
Unaffected Limb	0.78 (0.53 - 0.91)	< 0.0001	0.46 (0.17 - 0.68)	0.002
Researcher – Clinician 3				
Affected Limb	0.75(0.46 - 0.89)	< 0.0001	0.57 (0.30 - 0.76)	< 0.0001
Unaffected Limb	0.58 (0.21 - 0.81)	0.001	0.64 (0.40 - 0.80)	< 0.0001

Table 10. Inter-rater reliability of overall CR-DVJS score per limb at 6 and 12months post-operative

	<u>6 months</u>		12 months		
Rater Group	Weighted Kappa (95% CI)	p-value	Weighted Kappa (95% CI)	p-value	
Researcher – Clinician 1					
Affected Limb	0.65 (0.41 - 0.89)	< 0.0001	0.61 (0.41 – 0.82)	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.84 (0.66 – 1.02)	< 0.0001	0.71 (0.52 – 0.91)	< 0.0001	
Clinician 2 – Clinician 3					
Affected Limb	0.52 (0.26 - 0.78)	< 0.0001	0.56(0.36 - 0.75)	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.22 (-0.05 - 0.48)	0.125	0.43 (0.23 - 0.64)	< 0.0001	
Researcher – Clinician 2					
Affected Limb	0.56 (0.34 - 0.79)	< 0.0001	0.36 (0.15 – 0.58)	0.001	
Unaffected Limb	0.59 (0.39 - 0.80)	< 0.0001	0.32 (0.07 – 0.56)	0.005	
Researcher – Clinician 3					
Affected Limb	0.50 (0.23 – 0.79)	0.001	0.43 (0.21 – 0.65)	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.25 (0.02 - 0.48)	0.055	0.38 (0.16 – 0.59)	0.001	

Table 11. Inter-rater reliability of CR-DVJS valgus collapse score per limb at 6 and12 months post-operative

5.3.2 Intra-rater Reliability

The overall scores of 20 patients at 6 months and 36 patients at 12 months were analyzed to determine intra-rater reliability of each expert clinician. One patient at the 12-month visit was missing because there was no video recording for the experts to evaluate. Results of intra-rater reliability for both time points are reported (Table 12). Clinician 2 demonstrated good (0.75-0.9) reliability while Clinician 3 demonstrated moderate (0.5-0.75) reliability. There was moderate agreement (0.5-0.75) between the researcher's inperson lab evaluation and video footage evaluation.

	<u>6 months</u>		12 months		
Rater	ICC (95% CI)	p-value	ICC (95% CI)	p-value	
Clinician 2					
Affected Limb	0.85 (0.67 - 0.94)	< 0.0001	0.84 (0.70 – 0.91)	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.85(0.66 - 0.94)	< 0.0001	0.79 (0.64 – 0.89)	< 0.0001	
Clinician 3					
Affected Limb	0.72 (0.41 – 0.88)	< 0.0001	0.71 (0.50 - 0.84)	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.50 (0.11 – 0.77)	0.005	0.59 (0.33 - 0.77)	< 0.0001	
Researcher					
Affected Limb	0.58 (0.12 - 0.82)	< 0.0001	0.70 (0.50 - 0.84)	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.53 (0.15 - 0.78)	0.004	0.76 (0.58 – 0.87)	< 0.0001	

Table 12. Intra-rater reliability of overall CR-DVJS score per limb at 6 and 12months post-operative

5.3.3 Within Session Test-retest Reliability

Twenty patients at 6 months and 36 patients at 12 months completed testing in both the lab and gym area for the analysis of test-retest reliability of the overall scores on the CR-DVJS. One patient refused to complete a second jump in the physiotherapy gym. Clinician 1 was absent from four 12-month patient visits so only 32 patients were included in that analysis. The overall score per limb on the CR-DVJS demonstrated good (0.75-0.9) to excellent (>0.9) within session test-retest reliability (Table 13).

D - 4	<u> </u>	8	<u>12 months</u>		
Kater	ICC (95% CI)	p-value	ICC (95% CI)	p-value	
Researcher					
Affected Limb	0.84(0.64 - 0.94)	< 0.0001	0.89 (0.73 – 0.94)	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.84(0.64 - 0.94)	< 0.0001	0.87 (0.74 – 0.93)	< 0.0001	
Clinician 1					
Affected Limb	0.95(0.86 - 0.98)	< 0.0001	0.81 (0.65 – 0.91)	< 0.0001	
Unaffected Limb	0.96 (0.91 - 0.99)	< 0.0001	0.90 (0.80 - 0.95)	< 0.0001	

Table 13. Within session test-retest reliability of overall CR-DVJS score per limb at6 and 12 months post-operative

Chapter 6

6 Discussion

This study is the first to evaluate the measurement properties of the CR-DVJS. As such, it is the first to provide evidence of the scale's validity and reliability. The results are generally consistent with the study's hypotheses, although slightly lower than anticipated.

6.1 Concurrent Validity

6.1.1 Dynamic Knee Valgus

Since knee abduction is a known factor contributing to knee valgus, knee abduction moment and knee abduction angle were used as the gold standard for measuring frontal plane knee movements. The measured knee abduction moment and angle were expected to be associated with the scoring of dynamic knee valgus. Previous literature has reported high abduction moment and angle with increased valgus collapse. Therefore, patients demonstrating the most extreme level of knee valgus during the drop vertical jump task should have the highest reported measures of knee abduction moment and angle. Similarly, if raters can accurately observe and report level of knee valgus, scores should reflect motion capture measures. We would expect to see a difference in mean knee abduction moment and angle which increases with each level of valgus scoring (none < some < moderate < extreme).

Results were generally not statistically significant and did not demonstrate a strong (rho > 0.5) correlation between measures as expected. The relationship between scored level of valgus collapse and both motion capture measures was very weak to moderate. The only exception was the strong correlation observed between KAA and the affected limb scores at the six-month follow-up for both raters (rho=0.48, p=0.03; rho=0.67, p=0,001). Surprisingly, a negative relationship was observed at the 12-month follow-up for KAA measures. This may be a result of the greater than expected number of patients demonstrating varus rather than valgus motion, which may be attributed to rehabilitation strategies to correct jumping mechanics. In addition, there was no difference or pattern in mean knee abduction moment and angle per scoring group. Standard deviation of mean

values was generally high, indicating a wide spread of measures in each category. Furthermore, there is large overlap of max and min values between groups. Extreme max and min values suggest there may be outliers in the group – if a patient was scored incorrectly this would drastically affect the mean and standard deviation. Outliers were detected in some scoring groups; however, these values are more likely a result of low sample size. Increasing overall sample size would decrease this random sampling error. Increasing the number of patients demonstrating each level of valgus collapse would allow for better comparisons between levels.

This suggests the scale could not accurately identify level of valgus. However, when comparing the lowest (none) and highest (extreme) scored groups the mean abduction moment was higher in the extreme group. Although these differences did not reach significance, the trend suggests it may be easier for raters to distinguish between none and extreme levels rather than four levels; especially when distinguishing between 'some' and 'moderate' levels.

6.1.2 Trunk Flexion

Trunk flexion angle (TFA) was used as the gold standard measurement of trunk flexion. TFA was expected to be strongly associated with the scoring of the trunk flexion component of the CR-DVJS. Furthermore, patients demonstrating insufficient trunk flexion as scored on the CR-DVJS were expected to have decreased TFA.

Results agree with hypotheses and demonstrate lower mean TFA for those scored as insufficient at both time points. There is no difference between limbs because trunk flexion is independent of injury status. The difference between those scored as sufficient and insufficient was statistically significant at the 12-month time point for both the researcher and clinician. The lack of statistical significance at the 6-month time point is likely a result of sample size since only 2-3 patients were recorded as having sufficient trunk flexion compared to 17-18 as insufficient. Furthermore, the high max value of insufficient flexion suggests incorrectly categorized patients may be affecting the mean and SD thereby contributing to the lack of significance. However, true outliers were not detected in this group. It should also be noted the insufficient max value is higher for the

clinician at 12-month follow-up, so not all patients were identified as expected despite the statistical significance. The relationship between TFA and the Researcher's scores produced a moderate correlation (rho>0.5) at both time points (rho=0.45, p=0.05; rho=0.49, p=0.002). The correlation was not as strong when TFA was compared to Clinician 1 scores. Although less susceptible to outliers, it seems incorrect identification of the highest TFA reduced the strength of this relationship. Overall, results suggest clinicians can use the CR-DVJS to accurately distinguish between sufficient and insufficient trunk flexion.

6.1.3 Knee Flexion

Knee flexion angle (KFA) was used as the gold standard measurement of knee flexion. KFA was expected to be strongly associated with the scoring of the knee flexion component of the CR-DVJS. Furthermore, patients demonstrating insufficient knee flexion as scored on the CR-DVJS were expected to have decreased KFA.

The strongest correlation (0.47-0.67) was observed between KFA and scoring of knee flexion. This suggests the knee flexion CR-DVJS component is most accurately identified by observers. Results agree with hypotheses and demonstrate lower mean KFA for those scored as insufficient at both time points. The difference between those scored as sufficient and insufficient was statistically significant at the 12-month time point for both the researcher and clinician. It was also statistically significant at all but one 6-month comparison of the affected limb for the clinician. This comparison has a much larger max value again suggesting incorrectly identified patients may have acted as outliers thereby skewing mean and SD. Few patients were recorded as sufficient but minimum values are still above mean values of those recorded as insufficient. There is a consistent difference in mean values between the affected and unaffected limb. The motion analysis can detect a more precise difference between limbs that may appear symmetrical to the observer. However, although less accurate, results suggest the CR-DVJS can be used to distinguish insufficient/sufficient knee flexion.

6.2 Reliability

6.2.1 Inter-rater Reliability

Inter-rater reliability was examined between four pairs of raters. Results indicate moderate to good (0.5 - 0.9) reliability between raters. These results were consistent within rater pairs between the two follow-up visits suggesting no difference in the interrater reliability of observing patients at 6 months or 12 months post-operative.

There was an exception indicating poor reliability (0.41) between Clinicians 2 and 3 for the unaffected limb at the six-month follow-up. Slightly lower reliability (0.46) was also observed between the Researcher and Clinician 2 at 12-month follow-up for the unaffected limb. Although most ICC values are within the moderate range, CI are wide which makes it difficult to draw exact conclusions. The lower boundary of the 95% CI indicates poor reliability (<0.5) for many comparisons, while the upper indicates good to excellent (>0.75).

The strongest reliability was observed between the Researcher and Clinician 1. This may be a result of the initial training and mutual understanding of the tool. Clinician 2 and 3 did not receive verbal instruction or discuss the use of the tool. Thus, it is possible the accompanying instruction manual was interpreted differently between clinicians resulting in lower agreement. These findings highlight the importance of instruction clarity despite the clinician's level of experience. The difference in user interpretation may also account for the lower agreement observed between the researcher and expert clinicians. However, it is also possible there was a difference in the ability to identify movements due to level of clinical experience. Furthermore, raters were only allowed to review video footage once in real time to best simulate the clinical experience. Adjusting instructions to allow for multiple viewings would likely improve level of agreement.

Since the level of dynamic knee valgus collapse has the strongest influence of the overall scale score, a weighted kappa was used to assess the agreement between raters on this component. The strongest reliability was again observed between the Researcher and Clinician 1 indicating good (0.61-0.84) results. There was moderate (0.43-0.56) reliability with one account of fair (0.22) reliability between Clinician 2 and 3 for the

unaffected limb at the six-month follow-up. Results comparing the researcher and expert clinicians demonstrate fair to moderate (0.25-0.59) reliability which is much lower than anticipated. These results may reflect a difference in the specific skill required to properly identify and categorize level of valgus collapse.

Overall results provide evidence of inter-rater reliability of the CR-DVJS score although, the wide confidence intervals and lower agreement of the valgus component suggest results should be interpreted with caution. Individuals with varying level of clinical experience demonstrate moderate agreement when using the CR-DVJS. To improve agreement between clinicians, more clear instructions and a strong understanding of tool use may be required.

6.2.2 Intra-rater Reliability

Intra-rater reliability of the overall score per limb was examined for each expert clinician. Clinician 2 demonstrated good (0.79-0.85) reliability while Clinician 3 demonstrated moderate (0.5-0.72) reliability.

However, confidence intervals were again wide and ranged from moderate (0.64) to excellent (0.94) for Clinician 2 and from poor (0.11) to good (0.88) for Clinician 3. Lower ICC values were observed in Clinician 3 scores of the unaffected limb.

A version of intra-rater reliability was assessed for the researcher's in-person lab evaluation and video footage evaluation. There was moderate agreement (0.53 - 0.76) of the overall scores but agreement was slightly stronger at the 12-month time point as a result of increased sample size.

6.2.3 Within Session Test-retest Reliability

The results from the Researcher overall scores indicate good (0.84 - 0.89) within session test-retest reliability. However, 95% confidence intervals are wide reflecting our low sample size. The lower boundary of the confidence intervals for the 6-month time point is slightly lower (0.64), but all upper boundaries indicate excellent (0.93 - 0.94) reliability.

Results from analysis of Clinician 1 overall scores indicate excellent (0.90 - 0.96) within session test-retest reliability except for the affected limb at the 12-month time point (0.81). This also demonstrated the widest CI with the lower boundary at 0.65 (moderate). All other CI support good to excellent reliability.

6.3 Limitations

A limitation of this study is the small sample size. Specifically, increasing sample size would reduce the likelihood of random sampling error, improving the probability of achieving a sample representative of the population. This would also serve to reduce the magnitude of the effect of extreme values on agreement statistics, like weighted Kappa, and improve our certainty of both the within and between subject variability, which would improve the precision of our ICCs. Finally, with such a small sample size, we were unable to precisely estimate the values from the motion capture system.

Another limitation is the applicability since the study was conducted at a tertiary care centre located in Southwestern Ontario (FKSMC) with expert surgeons and clinicians. ACLR rehabilitation at this facility specifically addresses patient jumping and landing mechanics. Thus, it is possible those receiving this treatment protocol may have had improved movement patterns compared to those receiving treatment elsewhere. However, we did not specifically collect this data to address this issue.

Evidence of the validity of the tool is also limited by the capabilities of the current gold standard. Although 3D motion capture analysis is considered the gold standard of measuring lower body biomechanics during dynamic tasks, it has several limitations which should be acknowledged. Factors including marker placement, estimations of joint center, and skin/soft tissue movement artifacts have been shown to reduce the accuracy and precision of calculated joint angles and moments.^{127,128} Furthermore, the system only allows for measuring specific kinematic and kinetic variables that act as surrogates of specific movement patterns. While these variables don't exactly measure the motion of interest, they are the best possible measure available. In addition, there is not an exact measure corresponding to the overall score on the CR-DVJS, but several components accounting for the score could be analyzed. Two of the components, trunk lean and

asymmetry, could not be analyzed for the purposes of this study. Trunk lean was not frequently observed in patients nor could we determine the angle that created a visible trunk lean. Asymmetry, although more clearly defined in the CR-DVJS manual, could not be accurately defined in calculations since it is unknown what difference between limbs is visible to the human eye. Without providing evidence for all components of the CR-DVJS, it is difficult to draw conclusions surrounding the validity of the overall score.

Although the CR-DVJS manual was provided to all raters involved in the study, it is evident some scale instructions could be defined more objectively by supplying measurement ranges or visual prompts. Raters' interpretation of the instructions directly influences the tool use which is then reflected in outcome scores. For instance, it is left to the discretion and judgement of the rater to determine what "insufficient" flexion looks like. The check boxes on either side also leave some room for error in interpretation. For example, checking the side that the patient trunk is leaning toward, the side leading or landing during asymmetrical jumping patterns, or one side for trunk flexion. The difference in training and clarity of instructions between the raters make it difficult to determine if there is a difference in scoring ability based on level of experience. Furthermore, the expert clinicians scores were not compared to the gold standard due to the different method of assessment. Although the Researcher's scores via video were used to estimate the level of inter-rater reliability between experts, we could not determine whether there was a difference in skill of using the tool between raters. Agreement could have been affected by raters' inconsistent interpretation of instructions, differences in skill, method of observation, or truly low intra-rater reliability of the researcher. In addition, it is possible intra-rater reliability of the expert clinicians may have been improved by recall bias despite completing assessments a designated two weeks apart. Test-retest is limited to conclusions within session as opposed to a standard retest after a period of time without change. Although it was assumed there was no change in the jumping pattern within the same day, or it is possible fatigue may have altered mechanics for some patients. It is also possible patients experienced a learning effect and became more confident completing the drop vertical jump task. Thus, order bias may have influenced results of the within session test-retest since patients always completed the task in the lab first and the physiotherapy clinic second.

Chapter 7

7 Conclusion

This study provides moderate evidence of concurrent validity, inter-rater reliability, and intra-rater reliability as well as good evidence of test-retest reliability of the CR-DVJS. Raters were more accurate in ratings of trunk and knee flexion than level of knee valgus collapse.

7.1 Future Direction

Future studies are required to provide further evidence of the tool validity and reliability. A similar study should be conducted with an increased sample size to reduce the likelihood of random sampling error thereby improving the ability to precisely estimate the CR-DVJS's association with motion capture variables.

Furthermore, increasing sample size would improve the precision of agreement measures. Improving the ability to capture all movement patterns included on the CR-DVJS, would allow for more direct comparisons between components. A reliability study should be conducted to determine the agreement of each component of the tool, since more than one combination of components can result in the same final score.

True test-retest reliability should also be examined. Rather than completing two test sessions in different locations during the same day, patients should return to complete the second testing session on a separate day. This would also reduce the potential effect of patient fatigue and learning compared to the within session design. Limiting physical exertion and monitoring fatigue prior to task completion may also be beneficial to improve study design and quality of the results.

Each method of assessment (video vs in-person) should also be further investigated. Specifically, it may be determined if one method is more accurate and/or reliable, as well as how this may be affected by different viewing instructions. For instance, whether repetitive viewing in real-time, pausing and continuing viewing, or slow-motion viewing can improve agreement or association. Additionally, an in-person assessment, rather than a video assessment, by an expert clinician would allow for better conclusions regarding the effect of skill on ability to use the tool. Without prior knowledge of whether a difference exists between in-person and video assessment we could not determine the accuracy of video assessment. An in-person lab assessment by a beginner, novice, and expert clinician would demonstrate whether increased skill can improve accuracy with the motion capture system.

The accompanying instruction manual should be reviewed among clinicians in a qualitative manner to improve clarity and hence, effectiveness of tool use. Feedback from raters of this study, as well as others in the field should be incorporated into a revised instruction manual and tested. This includes simple visual and layout feedback as well as more clear definitions of components and instructions to increase consistency of ratings.

Lastly, a large prospective study may be conducted to determine whether CR-DVJS score can predict ACL re-rupture. Once there is strong evidence of tool validity and reliability clinical implementation will assist with decision making and monitoring of progress during ACL rehabilitation. This will enhance ACL rehabilitation by providing an accessible and feasible option to quantify DVJ performance within a clinical setting.

References

- Arna Risberg M, Lewek M, Snyder-Mackler L. A systematic review of evidence for anterior cruciate ligament rehabilitation: how much and what type? *Phys Ther Sport*. 2004;5(3):125-145. doi:10.1016/j.ptsp.2004.02.003.
- Hewett TE, Di Stasi SL, Myer GD. Current Concepts for Injury Prevention in Athletes After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *Am J Sports Med*. 2013;41(1):216-224. doi:10.1177/0363546512459638.
- Ardern CL, Webster KE, Taylor NF, Feller JA. Return to the Preinjury Level of Competitive Sport After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Surgery. *Am J Sports Med*. 2011;39(3):538-543. doi:10.1177/0363546510384798.
- Paterno M V., Rauh MJ, Schmitt LC, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Incidence of Contralateral and Ipsilateral Anterior Cruciate Ligament (ACL) Injury After Primary ACL Reconstruction and Return to Sport. *Clin J Sport Med*. 2012;22(2):116-121. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e318246ef9e.
- 5. Boden BP, Sheehan FT, Torg JS, Hewett TE. Noncontact anterior cruciate ligament injuries: mechanisms and risk factors. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2010;18(9):520-527.
- Myer GD, Brent JL, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Real-Time Assessment and Neuromuscular Training Feedback Techniques to Prevent Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury in Female Athletes. *Strength Cond J.* 2011;33(3):21-35. doi:10.1519/SSC.0b013e318213afa8.
- Hewett TE, Myer GD. The mechanistic connection between the trunk, hip, knee, and anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*. 2011;39(4):161-166. doi:10.1097/JES.0b013e3182297439.
- Hewett TE, Myer GD, Ford KR, et al. Biomechanical Measures of Neuromuscular Control and Valgus Loading of the Knee Predict Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury Risk in Female Athletes: A Prospective Study. *Am J Sports Med*. 2005;33(4):492-501. doi:10.1177/0363546504269591.
- 9. FORD KR, MYER GD, HEWETT TE. Reliability of Landing 3D Motion Analysis. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2007;39(11):2021-2028. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e318149332d.

- Ortiz A, Rosario-Canales M, Rodríguez A, Seda A, Figueroa C, Venegas-Ríos HL. Reliability and concurrent validity between two-dimensional and three-dimensional evaluations of knee valgus during drop jumps. *Open access J Sport Med*. 2016;7:65-73. doi:10.2147/OAJSM.S100242.
- Gagnon SS, Birmingham TB, Chesworth BM, Bryant D, Werstine M, Giffin JR.
 Development of a Clinician-Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale for Patients Undergoing Rehabilitation After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction: A Delphi Approach. J Orthop Sport Phys Ther. 2017;47(8):557-564. doi:10.2519/jospt.2017.7183.
- Brukner P. Brukner and Khan Clinical Sports Medicine. Fourth Edi. McGraw-Hill Education;
 2012.
- 13. Ellis H. *Clinical Anatomy: A Revision and Applied Anatomy for Clinical Students*. Tenth Edit. Blackwell Publishing; 2002.
- 14. Moore K, Dalley A, Agur A. *Clinically Oriented Anatomy*. Sixth Edit. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2013.
- 15. Kweon C, Lederman E, Chhabra A. Anatomy and Biomechanics of the Cruciate Ligaments and Their Surgical Implications. In: *The Multiple Ligament Injured Knee: A Practical Guide to Management*. G.C. Fanel. Springer; 2013:17-26. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-49289-6_2.
- 16. Butler DL, Noyes FR, Grood ES. Ligamentous restraints to anterior-posterior drawer in the human knee. A biomechanical study. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 1980;62(2):259-270.
- LaBella CR, Hennrikus W, Hewett TE, Council on Sports Medicine and Fitness, and Section on Orthopaedics and SOO. Anterior cruciate ligament injuries: diagnosis, treatment, and prevention. *Pediatrics*. 2014;133(5):e1437-50. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-0623.
- 18. Boden BP, Dean GS, Feagin JA, Garrett WE. Mechanisms of anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Orthopedics*. 2000;23(6):573-578.
- Daniel D, Fritschy D. Anterior cruciate ligament injuries, in DeLee JC, Drez D Jr (eds).
 Orthop Sport Med Princ Pract. 1994;2:1313-1361.
- 20. Griffin LY, Agel J, Albohm MJ, et al. Noncontact Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries: Risk

Factors and Prevention Strategies. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2000;8(3):141-150. doi:10.5435/00124635-200005000-00001.

- 21. Arendt EA, Agel J, Dick R. Anterior cruciate ligament injury patterns among collegiate men and women. *J Athl Train*. 1999;34(2):86-92.
- Schilaty ND, Nagelli C, Bates NA, et al. Incidence of Second Anterior Cruciate Ligament Tears and Identification of Associated Risk Factors From 2001 to 2010 Using a Geographic Database. Orthop J Sport Med. 2017;5(8):232596711772419. doi:10.1177/2325967117724196.
- Smith HC, Vacek P, Johnson RJ, et al. Risk factors for anterior cruciate ligament injury: a review of the literature part 1: neuromuscular and anatomic risk. *Sports Health*. 2012;4(1):69-78. doi:10.1177/1941738111428281.
- Hewett TE, Ford KR, Hoogenboom BJ, Myer GD. Understanding and preventing acl injuries: current biomechanical and epidemiologic considerations - update 2010. N Am J Sports Phys Ther. 2010;5(4):234-251.
- Shimokochi Y, Shultz SJ. Mechanisms of Noncontact Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury. J Athl Train. 2008;43(4):396-408. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-43.4.396.
- Olsen O-E, Myklebust G, Engebretsen L, Bahr R. Injury Mechanisms for Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries in Team Handball. *Am J Sports Med*. 2004;32(4):1002-1012. doi:10.1177/0363546503261724.
- SHIN CS, CHAUDHARI AM, ANDRIACCHI TP. Valgus Plus Internal Rotation Moments Increase Anterior Cruciate Ligament Strain More Than Either Alone. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2011;43(8):1484-1491. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e31820f8395.
- Hootman JM, Macera CA, Ainsworth BE, Addy CL, Martin M, Blair SN. Epidemiology of musculoskeletal injuries among sedentary and physically active adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2002;34(5):838-844.
- Siegel L, Vandenakker-Albanese C, Siegel D. Anterior cruciate ligament injuries: anatomy, physiology, biomechanics, and management. *Clin J Sport Med*. 2012;22(4):349-355. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e3182580cd0.

- 30. Silvers HJ, Giza ER, Mandelbaum BR. Anterior cruciate ligament tear prevention in the female athlete. *Curr Sports Med Rep*. 2005;4(6):341-343.
- Majewski M, Susanne H, Klaus S. Epidemiology of athletic knee injuries: A 10-year study. *Knee*. 2006;13(3):184-188. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2006.01.005.
- 32. Clayton RAE, Court-Brown CM. The epidemiology of musculoskeletal tendinous and ligamentous injuries. *Injury*. 2008;39(12):1338-1344. doi:10.1016/j.injury.2008.06.021.
- Spindler KP, Wright RW. Anterior Cruciate Ligament Tear. N Engl J Med.
 2008;359(20):2135-2142. doi:10.1056/NEJMcp0804745.
- Mall NA, Chalmers PN, Moric M, et al. Incidence and Trends of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction in the United States. *Am J Sports Med*. 2014;42(10):2363-2370. doi:10.1177/0363546514542796.
- Sanders TL, Maradit Kremers H, Bryan AJ, et al. Incidence of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Tears and Reconstruction: A 21-Year Population-Based Study. *Am J Sports Med*. 2016;44(6):1502-1507. doi:10.1177/0363546516629944.
- Gianotti SM, Marshall SW, Hume PA, Bunt L. Incidence of anterior cruciate ligament injury and other knee ligament injuries: A national population-based study. *J Sci Med Sport*. 2009;12(6):622-627. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2008.07.005.
- Lopes TJA, Simic M, Pappas E, Lopes TJA, Simic M, Pappas E. Epidemiology of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction in Brazil's Public Health System. *Rev Bras Med do Esporte*. 2016;22(4):297-301. doi:10.1590/1517-869220162204159074.
- Parkkari J, Pasanen K, Mattila VM, Kannus P, Rimpela A. The risk for a cruciate ligament injury of the knee in adolescents and young adults: a population-based cohort study of 46 500 people with a 9 year follow-up. *Br J Sports Med*. 2008;42(6):422-426. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2008.046185.
- Nordenvall R, Bahmanyar S, Adami J, Stenros C, Wredmark T, Felländer-Tsai L. A Population-Based Nationwide Study of Cruciate Ligament Injury in Sweden, 2001-2009. *Am J Sports Med*. 2012;40(8):1808-1813. doi:10.1177/0363546512449306.

- Beynnon BD, Vacek PM, Newell MK, et al. The Effects of Level of Competition, Sport, and Sex on the Incidence of First-Time Noncontact Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury. *Am J Sports Med*. 2014;42(8):1806-1812. doi:10.1177/0363546514540862.
- Prodromos CC, Han Y, Rogowski J, Joyce B, Shi K. A Meta-analysis of the Incidence of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Tears as a Function of Gender, Sport, and a Knee Injury– Reduction Regimen. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg*. 2007;23(12):1320-1325.e6. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2007.07.003.
- Joseph AM, Collins CL, Henke NM, Yard EE, Fields SK, Comstock RD. A Multisport Epidemiologic Comparison of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries in High School Athletics. J Athl Train. 2013;48(6):810-817. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-48.6.03.
- Paterno M V., Rauh MJ, Schmitt LC, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Incidence of Second ACL Injuries
 2 Years After Primary ACL Reconstruction and Return to Sport. *Am J Sports Med*.
 2014;42(7):1567-1573. doi:10.1177/0363546514530088.
- Shelbourne KD, Gray T, Haro M. Incidence of Subsequent Injury to Either Knee within 5
 Years after Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction with Patellar Tendon Autograft.
 Am J Sports Med. 2009;37(2):246-251. doi:10.1177/0363546508325665.
- Salmon L, Russell V, Musgrove T, Pinczewski L, Refshauge K. Incidence and Risk Factors for Graft Rupture and Contralateral Rupture After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg*. 2005;21(8):948-957. doi:10.1016/J.ARTHRO.2005.04.110.
- Bogunovic L, Matava MJ. Operative and Nonoperative Treatment Options for ACL Tears in the Adult Patient: A Conceptual Review. *Phys Sportsmed*. 2013;41(4):33-40. doi:10.3810/psm.2013.11.2034.
- 47. Marx RG, Jones EC, Angel M, Wickiewicz TL, Warren RF. Beliefs and attitudes of members of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons regarding the treatment of anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Arthroscopy*. 2003;19(7):762-770.
- 48. Linko E, Harilainen A, Malmivaara A, Seitsalo S. Surgical versus conservative interventions for anterior cruciate ligament ruptures in adults. In: Linko E, ed. *Cochrane Database of*

Systematic Reviews. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2005:CD001356. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD001356.pub3.

- Ardern CL, Webster KE, Taylor NF, Feller JA. Return to the Preinjury Level of Competitive Sport After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Surgery. *Am J Sports Med*. 2011;39(3):538-543. doi:10.1177/0363546510384798.
- 50. Ardern CL, Webster KE, Taylor NF, Feller JA. Return to sport following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the state of play. *Br J Sports Med*. 2011;45(7):596-606. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2010.076364.
- Ardern CL, Taylor NF, Feller JA, Webster KE. Return-to-Sport Outcomes at 2 to 7 Years After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Surgery. *Am J Sports Med*. 2012;40(1):41-48. doi:10.1177/0363546511422999.
- 52. Ardern CL, Taylor NF, Feller JA, Webster KE. Fifty-five per cent return to competitive sport following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis including aspects of physical functioning and contextual factors. *Br J Sports Med*. 2014;48(21):1543-1552. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-093398.
- van Yperen DT, Reijman M, van Es EM, Bierma-Zeinstra SMA, Meuffels DE. Twenty-Year Follow-up Study Comparing Operative Versus Nonoperative Treatment of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Ruptures in High-Level Athletes. *Am J Sports Med*. 2018;46(5):1129-1136. doi:10.1177/0363546517751683.
- Daniel DM, Stone M Lou, Dobson BE, Fithian DC, Rossman DJ, Kaufman KR. Fate of the ACL-injured Patient. *Am J Sports Med*. 1994;22(5):632-644. doi:10.1177/036354659402200511.
- Ellman MB, Sherman SL, Forsythe B, LaPrade RF, Cole BJ, Bach BR. Return to Play Following Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2015;23(5):283-296. doi:10.5435/JAAOS-D-13-00183.
- 56. Smith TO, Postle K, Penny F, McNamara I, Mann CJV. Is reconstruction the best management strategy for anterior cruciate ligament rupture? A systematic review and meta-analysis comparing anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction versus non-operative

treatment. Knee. 2014;21(2):462-470. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2013.10.009.

- 57. Paterno M V. Non-operative Care of the Patient with an ACL-Deficient Knee. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med*. 2017;10(3):322-327. doi:10.1007/s12178-017-9431-6.
- 58. Fitzgerald GK, Axe MJ, Snyder-Mackler L. A decision-making scheme for returning patients to high-level activity with nonoperative treatment after anterior cruciate ligament rupture. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2000;8(2):76-82. doi:10.1007/s001670050190.
- Snyder-Mackler L, Arundale A, Failla M, et al. Nonoperative Management of ACL Rupture.
 In: *Controversies in the Technical Aspects of ACL Reconstruction*. Berlin, Heidelberg:
 Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2017:491-498. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-52742-9_45.
- 60. Cascio BM, Culp L, Cosgarea AJ. Return to play after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Clin Sports Med.* 2004;23(3):395-408. doi:10.1016/j.csm.2004.03.004.
- Kvist J. Rehabilitation Following Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury. *Sport Med*.
 2004;34(4):269-280. doi:10.2165/00007256-200434040-00006.
- Adams D, Logerstedt D, Hunter-Giordano A, Axe MJ, Snyder-Mackler L. Current Concepts for Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction: A Criterion-Based Rehabilitation Progression. J Orthop Sport Phys Ther. 2012;42(7):601-614. doi:10.2519/jospt.2012.3871.
- 63. Delay BS, Smolinski RJ, Wind WM, Bowman DS. Current practices and opinions in ACL reconstruction and rehabilitation: results of a survey of the American Orthopaedic Society for Sports Medicine. *Am J Knee Surg*. 2001;14(2):85-91.
- 64. Werstine MS. Physiotherapy Following ACL Reconstruction Protocol. 2009;1(44):1-15.
- Abrams GD, Harris JD, Gupta AK, et al. Functional Performance Testing After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *Orthop J Sport Med*. 2014;2(1):232596711351830. doi:10.1177/2325967113518305.
- Myer GD, Paterno M V., Ford KR, Quatman CE, Hewett TE. Rehabilitation After Anterior
 Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction: Criteria-Based Progression Through the Return-to Sport Phase. J Orthop Sport Phys Ther. 2006;36(6):385-402. doi:10.2519/jospt.2006.2222.

- Barber-Westin SD, Noyes FR. Factors Used to Determine Return to Unrestricted Sports Activities After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg*. 2011;27(12):1697-1705. doi:10.1016/j.arthro.2011.09.009.
- Gokeler A, Welling W, Zaffagnini S, Seil R, Padua D. Development of a test battery to enhance safe return to sports after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2017;25(1):192-199. doi:10.1007/s00167-016-4246-3.
- Padua DA, Marshall SW, Boling MC, et al. The Landing Error Scoring System (LESS) Is a Valid and Reliable Clinical Assessment Tool of Jump-Landing Biomechanics The JUMP-ACL Study. Am J Sports Med. 37(10). doi:10.1177/0363546509343200.
- Reid A, Birmingham TB, Stratford PW, Alcock GK, Giffin JR. Hop Testing Provides a Reliable and Valid Outcome Measure During Rehabilitation After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *Phys Ther*. 2007;87(3):337-349. doi:10.2522/ptj.20060143.
- Bien DP, Dubuque TJ. Considerations for late stage acl rehabilitation and return to sport to limit re-injury risk and maximize athletic performance. *Int J Sports Phys Ther*. 2015;10(2):256-271.
- Sigward SM, Havens KL, Powers CM. Knee separation distance and lower extremity kinematics during a drop land: implications for clinical screening. *J Athl Train*. 46(5):471-475.
- 73. Hewett TE. Neuromuscular and hormonal factors associated with knee injuries in female athletes. Strategies for intervention. *Sports Med*. 2000;29(5):313-327.
- 74. Hewett TE, Paterno M V, Myer GD. Strategies for enhancing proprioception and neuromuscular control of the knee. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2002;(402):76-94.
- 75. Myer GD, Ford KR, Brent JL, Hewett TE. Differential neuromuscular training effects onACL injury risk factors in"high-risk" versus "low-risk" athletes. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2007;8(1):39. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-8-39.
- 76. Fox AS, Bonacci J, McLean SG, Spittle M, Saunders N. What is Normal? Female Lower Limb Kinematic Profiles During Athletic Tasks Used to Examine Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury Risk: A Systematic Review. *Sport Med.* 2014;44(6):815-832.

doi:10.1007/s40279-014-0168-8.

- 77. Myklebust G, Engebretsen L, Braekken IH, Skjølberg A, Olsen O-E, Bahr R. Prevention of anterior cruciate ligament injuries in female team handball players: a prospective intervention study over three seasons. *Clin J Sport Med*. 2003;13(2):71-78.
- Fox AS, Bonacci J, McLean SG, Spittle M, Saunders N. A Systematic Evaluation of Field-Based Screening Methods for the Assessment of Anterior Cruciate Ligament (ACL) Injury Risk. Sport Med. 2016;46(5):715-735. doi:10.1007/s40279-015-0443-3.
- FORD KR, MYER GD, HEWETT TE. Valgus Knee Motion during Landing in High School Female and Male Basketball Players. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2003;35(10):1745-1750. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000089346.85744.D9.
- Ford KR, Myer GD, Hewett TE. Reliability of dynamic knee motion in female athletes.
 Paper presented at: American Society of Biomechanics Annual Meeting; September 25-27, 2003; Toledo, Ohio.
- Myer GD, Ms Y, Ford KR, et al. Development and Validation of a Clinic-Based Prediction Tool to Identify Female Athletes at High Risk for Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury. doi:10.1177/0363546510370933.
- 82. Gagnon S, Birmingham T, Remtulla A, Bryant D, J G. Kinematics and Kinetics During Jump Landing in Patients After ACL Reconstruction. In: *ISAKOS Bienn Congr*. 2015.
- Räisänen AM, Pasanen K, Krosshaug T, et al. Association between frontal plane knee control and lower extremity injuries: a prospective study on young team sport athletes. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med.* 2018;4(1):e000311. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2017-000311.
- Markolf KL, Burchfield DM, Shapiro MM, Shepard MF, Finerman GAM, Slauterbeck JL.
 Combined knee loading states that generate high anterior cruciate ligament forces. J
 Orthop Res. 1995;13(6):930-935. doi:10.1002/jor.1100130618.
- Chaudhari AM, Andriacchi TP. The mechanical consequences of dynamic frontal plane limb alignment for non-contact ACL injury. *J Biomech*. 2006;39(2):330-338. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2004.11.013.

- Fung DT, Zhang L-Q. Modeling of ACL impingement against the intercondylar notch. *Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon)*. 2003;18(10):933-941. doi:10.1016/S0268-0033(03)00174-8.
- Fukuda Y, Woo SL-Y, Loh JC, et al. A quantitative analysis of valgus torque on the ACL: A human cadaveric study. *J Orthop Res.* 2003;21(6):1107-1112. doi:10.1016/S0736-0266(03)00084-6.
- McLean SG, Huang X, Su A, van den Bogert AJ. Sagittal plane biomechanics cannot injure the ACL during sidestep cutting. *Clin Biomech*. 2004;19(8):828-838. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2004.06.006.
- Bates NA, Nesbitt RJ, Shearn JT, Myer GD, Hewett TE. Knee Abduction Affects Greater Magnitude of Change in ACL and MCL Strains Than Matched Internal Tibial Rotation In Vitro. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2017;475(10):2385-2396. doi:10.1007/s11999-017-5367-9.
- 90. Withrow TJ, Huston LJ, Wojtys EM, Ashton-Miller JA. The effect of an impulsive knee valgus moment on in vitro relative ACL strain during a simulated jump landing. *Clin Biomech*. 2006;21(9):977-983. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2006.05.001.
- 91. Schipplein OD, Andriacchi TP. Interaction between active and passive knee stabilizers during level walking. *J Orthop Res.* 1991;9(1):113-119. doi:10.1002/jor.1100090114.
- Myer GD, Paterno M V, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Neuromuscular Training Techniques to Target Deficits Before Return to Sport After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. J Strength Cond Res. 2008;22(3):987-1014. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31816a86cd.
- 93. Myer GD, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Rationale and Clinical Techniques for Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury Prevention Among Female Athletes. *J Athl Train*. 2004;39(4):352-364.
- 94. Lloyd DG, Buchanan TS. Strategies of muscular support of varus and valgus isometric loads at the human knee. *J Biomech*. 2001;34(10):1257-1267.
- 95. Hewett TE, Myer GD, Ford KR, et al. Biomechanical Measures of Neuromuscular Control and Valgus Loading of the Knee Predict Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury Risk in Female Athletes: A Prospective Study. Am J Sports Med. 2005;33(4):492-501. doi:10.1177/0363546504269591.

- 96. Hewett TE, Torg JS, Boden BP. Video analysis of trunk and knee motion during noncontact anterior cruciate ligament injury in female athletes: lateral trunk and knee abduction motion are combined components of the injury mechanism. *Br J Sports Med*. 2009;43(6):417-422. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2009.059162.
- 97. Hewett TE, Myer GD. The Mechanistic Connection between the Trunk, Knee, and ACL Injury. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*. July 2011:1. doi:10.1097/JES.0b013e3182297439.
- Zazulak BT, Hewett TE, Reeves NP, Goldberg B, Cholewicki J. Deficits in Neuromuscular Control of the Trunk Predict Knee Injury Risk. *Am J Sports Med*. 2007;35(7):1123-1130. doi:10.1177/0363546507301585.
- Powers CM. The Influence of Abnormal Hip Mechanics on Knee Injury: A Biomechanical Perspective. J Orthop Sport Phys Ther. 2010;40(2):42-51. doi:10.2519/jospt.2010.3337.
- Weltin E, Mornieux G, Gollhofer A. Influence of Gender on Trunk and Lower Limb Biomechanics during Lateral Movements. *Res Sport Med*. 2015;23(3):265-277. doi:10.1080/15438627.2015.1040915.
- Zazulak BT, Hewett TE, Reeves NP, Goldberg B, Cholewicki J. The Effects of Core Proprioception on Knee Injury. *Am J Sports Med*. 2007;35(3):368-373. doi:10.1177/0363546506297909.
- Burnham JM, Yonz MC, Robertson KE, et al. Relationship of Hip and Trunk Muscle Function with Single Leg Step-Down Performance: Implications for Return to Play Screening and Rehabilitation. *Phys Ther Sport*. 2016;22:66-73. doi:10.1016/j.ptsp.2016.05.007.
- 103. Hollman JH, Ginos BE, Kozuchowski J, Vaughn AS, Krause DA, Youdas JW. Relationships between knee valgus, hip-muscle strength, and hip-muscle recruitment during a singlelimb step-down. J Sport Rehabil. 2009;18(1):104-117.
- 104. Jacobs CA, Uhl TL, Mattacola CG, Shapiro R, Rayens WS. Hip abductor function and lower extremity landing kinematics: sex differences. *J Athl Train*. 2007;42(1):76-83.
- 105. Hewett TE, Myer GD, Ford KR, Powers S. *Neuromuscular Intervention Targeted to Mechanisms of ACL Load in Female Athletes.* Bethesda, MD; 2008.

- Hughes G. A Review of Recent Perspectives on Biomechanical Risk Factors Associated with Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury. *Res Sport Med.* 2014;22(2):193-212. doi:10.1080/15438627.2014.881821.
- Sheehan FT, Sipprell WH, Boden BP. Dynamic sagittal plane trunk control during anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Am J Sports Med*. 2012;40(5):1068-1074.
 doi:10.1177/0363546512437850.
- Blackburn JT, Padua DA. Sagittal-plane trunk position, landing forces, and quadriceps electromyographic activity. *J Athl Train*. 2009;44(2):174-179. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-44.2.174.
- Pollard CD, Sigward SM, Powers CM. Limited hip and knee flexion during landing is associated with increased frontal plane knee motion and moments. *Clin Biomech*. 2010;25(2):142-146. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2009.10.005.
- Malfait B, Dingenen B, Smeets A, et al. Knee and Hip Joint Kinematics Predict Quadriceps and Hamstrings Neuromuscular Activation Patterns in Drop Jump Landings. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(4):e0153737. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153737.
- Dürselen L, Claes L, Kiefer H. The Influence of Muscle Forces and External Loads on Cruciate Ligament Strain. Am J Sports Med. 1995;23(1):129-136. doi:10.1177/036354659502300122.
- 112. Pandy MG, Shelburne KB. Dependence of cruciate-ligament loading on muscle forces and external load. *J Biomech*. 1997;30(10):1015-1024.
- Arms SW, Pope MH, Johnson RJ, Fischer RA, Arvidsson I, Eriksson E. The biomechanics of anterior cruciate ligament rehabilitation and reconstruction. *Am J Sports Med*. 1984;12(1):8-18. doi:10.1177/036354658401200102.
- More RC, Karras BT, Neiman R, Fritschy D, Woo SL-Y, Daniel DM. Hamstrings—an anterior cruciate ligament protagonist. *Am J Sports Med*. 1993;21(2):231-237. doi:10.1177/036354659302100212.
- 115. Sell TC, Ferris CM, Abt JP, et al. Predictors of proximal tibia anterior shear force during a vertical stop-jump. *J Orthop Res*. 2007;25(12):1589-1597. doi:10.1002/jor.20459.

- Leppänen M, Pasanen K, Kujala UM, et al. Stiff Landings Are Associated With Increased ACL Injury Risk in Young Female Basketball and Floorball Players. *Am J Sports Med*. 2017;45(2):386-393. doi:10.1177/0363546516665810.
- Paterno M V., Schmitt LC, Ford KR, et al. Biomechanical Measures during Landing and Postural Stability Predict Second Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury after Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction and Return to Sport. *Am J Sports Med*. 2010;38(10):1968-1978. doi:10.1177/0363546510376053.
- Paterno M V, Ford KR, Myer GD, Heyl R, Hewett TE. Limb Asymmetries in Landing and Jumping 2 Years Following Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *Clin J Sport Med*. 2007;17(4):258-262. doi:10.1097/JSM.0b013e31804c77ea.
- Di Stasi S, Myer GD, Hewett TE. Neuromuscular training to target deficits associated with second anterior cruciate ligament injury. *J Orthop Sports Phys Ther*. 2013;43(11):777-792, A1-11. doi:10.2519/jospt.2013.4693.
- 120. Meyer CAG, Gette P, Mouton C, Seil R, Theisen D. Side-to-side asymmetries in landing mechanics from a drop vertical jump test are not related to asymmetries in knee joint laxity following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2018;26(2):381-390. doi:10.1007/s00167-017-4651-2.
- 121. Baumgart C, Schubert M, Hoppe MW, Gokeler A, Freiwald J. Do ground reaction forces during unilateral and bilateral movements exhibit compensation strategies following ACL reconstruction? *Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2017;25(5):1385-1394. doi:10.1007/s00167-015-3623-7.
- Schmitt LC, Paterno M V., Ford KR, Myer GD, Hewett TE. Strength Asymmetry and Landing Mechanics at Return to Sport after Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction. *Med Sci Sport Exerc*. 2015;47(7):1426-1434. doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000000560.
- 123. Ithurburn MP, Paterno M V., Ford KR, Hewett TE, Schmitt LC. Young Athletes With Quadriceps Femoris Strength Asymmetry at Return to Sport After Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Demonstrate Asymmetric Single-Leg Drop-Landing Mechanics. *Am J Sports Med.* 2015;43(11):2727-2737. doi:10.1177/0363546515602016.

- 124. Koo TK, Li MY. A Guideline of Selecting and Reporting Intraclass Correlation Coefficients for Reliability Research. *J Chiropr Med*. 2016;15(2):155-163. doi:10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012.
- 125. Lachenbruch PA, Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed.).
 J Am Stat Assoc. 1989;84(408):1096. doi:10.2307/2290095.
- 126. Hemphill JF. Interpreting the magnitudes of correlation coefficients. *Am Psychol*. 2003;58(1):78-79. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.58.1.78.
- 127. Peters A, Galna B, Sangeux M, Morris M, Baker R. Quantification of soft tissue artifact in lower limb human motion analysis: A systematic review. *Gait Posture*. 2010;31(1):1-8. doi:10.1016/J.GAITPOST.2009.09.004.
- 128. Benoit DL, Ramsey DK, Lamontagne M, Xu L. Effect of skin movement artifact on knee kinematics during gait and cutting motions measured in vivo. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2005.04.012.

Appendices

Appendix A: Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale Sheet

Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale					
LEFT: Unaffected / Affect	ted	RIGHT: Unaffected / Affected			
+		+			
Knee Valgus Collap This movement pattern pri	350: imarily involves: hip adduction, hip internal rotation, knee abd	uction, and tibial rotation.			
	NO: None				
	SOME: slight valgus collapse ("wiggle") with correct	ction*			
	MODERATE: obvious valgus collapse with correct	ion"			
	EXTREME: obvious valgus collapse with NO correc	tion*			
* 'correction' sylers to a knee	e valgas colligise pattern that retarns to neutral alignment				
0 T NO Knee Valgue C D Undesitable May	onten a 🖡 🛛 🖡	NO Knee Majos Callapor D Undestrable Monements - 0			
I I Undesitable May	Other Undesirable Movements:	NO Knes Wiger Colleges			
2 - NO Knee Welgus C > 1 Undesirable M	anpes Lateral Trunk Lean	NO Knee Wilger Collapse - 2			
3 - SOME Knos Volgen D Undesitable May	Cohpre	SOME Knee Valgos Collapse 0 Undesinable Movements - 3			
4 - SOME Knos Volgon I Undesitable May	Cohpre conset	SDME Knee Valges Callapse I Undesirable Movement — 4			
5 - SCME Knee Valges = 1 Undesimable Me	College * leads jump and/or lands with one limb before the other evenents	SOME Knee Wilges Collepse - 5			
6 - PICDERATE Knod D Undesitable May	Welgue Collegee (4) Omounts	ODERATE Knes Vilgo Collapos 0 Unitalindos Novementa — 6			
7 - MODERATE Knod	Volgon Collapon (19) emont	CDERATE Kneet Valges Callagoe - 7			
8 - MCDERATE Kare	Valgos Callapor Pro overnente	DDERATE Knee Valges Colleges			
9 L EXTREME Knee Va ± Undesirable Mov	lgus Collapso rements	EXTREME Knee Valges Collepse s Undesirable Momenteness 9			
Comments:	Comments:				
Instructions:* This scale is for clinician use to quantify performance of a drop vertical jump. It is intended to help evaluate change in performance following therapy.

Clinicians observe at least 3 repeated landings, check the appropriate bases for Knee Valgus Collapse and Other Undesirable Movements for both left and right limbs, then circle the corresponding scale numbers (left and right of page).

'Asymmetry: Observed as leading with one limb to initiate movement, or making initial contact with one limb prior to the other.

Drop Vertical Jump: The patient stands on a box of approximately 30 cm, feet shoulder-width apart (~35 cm), with the ball of each foot on the edge of the box. The patient then drops off the box with both feet at the same time, lands on both feet, and then performs a maximum vertical jump as quickly as possible (similar to jumping for a basketball), landing again in the same spot as the initial landing¹.

The extent of knee valgus collapse, and other undeskable movements, are evaluated from initial contact through to the deepest point during the initial londing, prior to the maximal jump.



Example of sequence of DVJ. A) Start position; B) Drop; C) Deepest point during initial landing; D) Maximal jump; E) Second landing and completion of jump.

* For more detailed instructions and exemple pictures, please costal? the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jamp Scale Instruction Rooklet.

1. Ford KB, Miyer GD, Howert TE. Volgas lever motion during landing in high school female and male basketball players. AISSE 1003;35(13):1745-1750

Appendix B: Instruction Booklet for the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale

Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale

Instruction Booklet



Sheila Gagnon

March 2014

Wolf Orthopaedic Biomechanics Laboratory Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this booklet is to provide instructions for how to use the Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale (see Appendix 1 for the scale). A summary of the instructions also appears on the back of the scale. This booklet includes examples of what to observe when using the scale, and provides *instructions*, a brief *rationale* and potential *interpretation* for each component.

The drop vertical jump (DVJ) is a functional task relevant to anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injury and rehabilitation. The DVJ is similar to rebounding a basketball, blocking in volleyball or jumping in soccer, among other sporting movements. When quantified in a biomechanics lab with motion analysis equipment, it is an indicator of ACL injury risk, especially in young females when greater dynamic knee valgus motion, knee abduction loads and limb-to-limb asymmetry are observed¹. The present scale is intended to help clinicians quantify performance on the DVJ, without requiring motion analysis equipment, and evaluate change following therapy.

OVERALL INSTRUCTIONS

The clinician should observe at least *three* (more if required) repeated DVJ's while standing in different positions so as to observe movements in all three planes (frontal, sagittal and transverse), looking for joint positions and possible compensatory movements. Based on the repeated jumps, the clinician should check the appropriate boxes on the scale for i) *Knee Valgus Collapse*, and ii) *Other Undestrable Movements*, for both the left and right limbs, then circle the corresponding scale numbers to determine the overall performance for each limb (Appendix 1). Even if a joint position or compensatory movement is observed only once, it should be recorded.

Drop Vertical Jump Protocol

The patient is instructed to stand on a box of approximately 30 cm in height (e.g. a small plyo-box), with feet shoulder-width apart (~35 cm), with the ball of each foot on the edge of the box (e.g. toes overhanging edge). The patient then drops off the box with both feet at the same time, lands on both feet, and then performs a maximum vertical jump as quickly as possible (similar to jumping for a basketball), landing in the same approximate spot as the initial landing². The extent of dynamic knee valgus collapse and other undesirable movements should be evaluated from initial contact through to the deepest point during the initial landing, prior to the maximal jump. An illustration of the sequence of phases in the DVJ is presented in Figure 1.



FIGURE 1. Example DVJ. Sequences include: (A) Start position; (B) Drop; (C) Deepest point during initial landing; (D) Maximal jump; and E) Second landing and completion of jump.

KNEE VALGUS COLLAPSE

Instruction

The dynamic knee valgus collapse pattern includes the following movements: hip adduction and internal rotation, knee abduction, and ankle eversion^{3,4}. These movements have a resultant external knee abduction moment directing the distal tibia away from the midline (Figure 2).

The Clinician Rated DVJ Scale has clinicians distinguish between four levels of dynamic knee valgus collapse. These include: NO (none); SOME (slight valgus collapse ("wiggle") with correction); MODERATE (obvious valgus collapse with correction); and EXTREME (obvious valgus collapse with NO correction). The term "correction" refers to a knee valgus collapse pattern that returns to neutral alignment. Figure 3 illustrates these four categories of valgus collapse.

> Rationale

The dynamic knee valgus collapse pattern is suggested to indicate a ligament dominant (rather than a muscular dominant) landing technique that produces a large external knee abduction moment about the knee and a large load on the ACL^{4,5}.

Interpretation

When this pattern is observed, a suggested rehabilitation goal is to decrease medial knee motion to promote a muscle dominant landing technique and decrease risk for ACL (re)injury⁴.

Clinician Rated DVJ Scale



FIGURE 2. Example of the dynamic knee valgus collapse pattern including hip adduction and internal rotation, knee abduction, and ankle eversion. This pattern produces an external knee abduction moment.



FIGURE 3. Example images of the categories of knee valgus collapse included in the scale. (A) NO (none); (B) SOME; (C) MODERATE; and (D) EXTREME knee valgus collapse

UNDESIRABLE MOVEMENTS

While dynamic knee valgus collapse is of primary concern during the DVJ, other undesirable movements are suggested to be important⁶. Therefore, the clinician should also evaluate excessive lateral trunk lean, insufficient forward trunk flexion, insufficient knee flexion and asymmetry using the Clinician Rated DVJ Scale.

Lateral Trunk Lean

> Instruction

When evaluating whether a patient exhibits lateral trunk lean, the clinician should observe performance in the frontal plane and whether the patient is in a neutral alignment (Figure 4A), or is shifting the trunk over one limb (Figure 4B).

Clinician Rated DVJ Scale

Instruction Booklet

> Rationale

Studies suggest that at the time of ACL injury, the trunk is frequently erect^{8,9,10} and displaced laterally⁸, which results in less flexion in the lower extremity (esp. hip and knee)^{11,12,13}. The consequences are increased load on the ACL and increased risk for injury.

Interpretation

Lateral trunk lean is more easily observed with single leg performance; however, it is important to consider in any landing, as it can be an indicator of hip abductor weakness⁸ and possibly weak core proprioception⁷. These should therefore be considered as targets of rehabilitation intervention. Note that shifting the trunk over a weaker limb could result in an increase in dynamic knee valgus collapse ipsilaterally.



FIGURE 4. Example of (A) neutral trunk and (B) lateral trunk lean to the patients' right side during the DVJ. Note that in image (B) the participant is shifting weight over the right hip (right shoulder and hip dropped) and is also demonstrating a dynamic valgus collapse

Insufficient Trunk Flexion

Instruction

The clinician should evaluate performance for insufficient trunk flexion in the sagittal plane. When observing decreased trunk flexion during the DVJ, the clinician should also check for accompanying decreased knee and hip flexion, as often when landing with an erect trunk (Figure 5A), the patient will also exhibit less knee and hip flexion, in comparison to a more flexed trunk^{11,12,13} (Figure 5B).

Rationale

Hip and knee moments are influenced by sagittal plane trunk motion⁸. A more erect position (Figure 5A) results in greater loads at the knee^{8,11,12,13}, while landing with the trunk in a more flexed position (Figure 5B) reduces loads at the knee and potentially ACL strain, while increasing hip and knee flexion angles during landing^{11,12,13}.

Clinician Rated DVJ Scale

Interpretation

If a patient is landing in a trunk erect position, technique training to increase trunk flexion is recommended.



FIGURE 5. Examples of sagittal plane trunk positions during the DVJ: (A) erect trunk position with hip and knee joints demonstrating only slight flexion; and (B) greater trunk flexion accompanied by greater hip and knee flexion

Insufficient Knee Flexion

Instruction

The clinician should evaluate performance for insufficient knee flexion in the sagittal plane. Cues to look for when observing insufficient knee flexion are a flat-footed straight-leg landing, usually with an associated loud contact noise³. Figure 6 portrays an example of straight-leg landing (A) and a more flexed landing (B).

> Rationale

At the time of ACL injury, the knee is frequently reported to be in a position close to full extension⁹, a position at which contraction of the quadriceps increases strain on the ACL¹⁴ and the hamstrings cannot adequately protect the ACL^{4,15,16}.

> Interpretation

Insufficient knee flexion may suggest quadriceps dominance or poor hamstring strength and recruitment^{4,3}, which should therefore be a focus of rehabilitation.



FIGURE 6. Example images of knee flexion observed in the sagittal plane, (A) flat-footed, straight-leg landing depicting insufficient knee flexion; and (B) a more flexed position allowing the hamstrings to activate and reduce anterior tibial translation and strain on the ACL.

Asymmetry 1

Instruction

Clinician Rated DVI Scale.

When observing performance of the DVJ for asymmetry, the clinician should be watchful for patients leaving the box with one limb prior to the other and/or landing with one limb prior to the other (Figure 7). Another cue is a foot placement with one foot posterior to the other (the posterior limb is suggested to be the stronger limb)⁴ (Figure 8).

> Rationale

Limb-to-limb asymmetries are also risk factors for ACL injury¹. Asymmetries in landing and jumping forces following return to sport after ACL reconstruction exist as long as 2 years after surgery¹⁷. Lingering asymmetries can increase the risk for re-injury of the reconstructed ACL and to the contralateral limb^{6,17}.

Interpretation

Lower limb asymmetry is suggested to indicate that the patient is exhibiting leg dominance, or residual injury deficits⁵, and a focus of rehabilitation should therefore be on correcting the observed imbalance between limbs.

Clinician Rated DVJ Scale



FIGURE 7. Example images of asymmetry: The subject is leading the jump with the right foot by unweighting it first as seen in (A) frontal, and (B) sagittal views; Subject will likely land, or make initial contact with the right foot first as seen in (C) frontal, and (D) sagittal views



FIGURE 8. Example images of asymmetry demonstrated by staggered foot placement, with the right foot placed posteriorly to the left, suggesting a weaker left limb. (A) Frontal plane and, (B) sagittal plane views. Staggered foot placement is more easily observed from the sagittal view

REFERENCES

- Hewett TE, Myer GD, Ford KR, et al. Biomechanical measures of neuromuscular control and valgus loading of the knee predict anterior cruciate ligament injury risk in female athletes: a prospective study. Am J Sports Med 2005, 33:492-501
- Ford KR, Myer GD, Hewett TE. Valgus knee motion during landing in high school female and male basketball players. MSSE 2003;35(10):1745-1750
- Paterno MV, Schmitt LC, Ford KR, Rauh MJ, Myer GD, Huang B and Hewett TE. Biomechanical measures during landing and postural stability predict second anterior cruciate ligament injury after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction and return to sport. Am J Sports Med 2010, 38(10):1968-1978
- Myer GD, Ford KR and Hewett TE. Rationale and clinical techniques for anterior cruciate ligament injury prevention among female athletes. J Athl Training 2004, 39(4):352-364
- Myer GD, Brent JL, Ford KR, Hewett TE. Real-time assessment and neuromuscular training feedback techniques to prevent anterior cruciate ligament injury in female athletes. Strength Cond J 2011, 33(3):21-35
- Di Stasi S, Myer GD, Hewett TE. Neuromuscular training to target deficits associated with second anterior cruciate ligament injury. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2013, 43(11):777-792
- Hewett TE, Torg JS, Boden BP. Video analysis of trunk and knee motion during non-contact anterior cruciate ligament injury in female athletes: lateral trunk and knee abduction motion are combined components of the injury mechanism. Br J Sports Med 2009, 43:417-422
- Powers CM. The influence of abnormal hip mechanics on knee injury: A biomechanical perspective. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2010, 40(2):42-51
- Boden BP, Scott DG, Feagin JA Jr., Garrett WE Jr. Mechanisms of anterior cruciate ligament injury. Orthopedics 2000, 23(6):573-578
- Griffin LY, Agel J, Albohm MJ, Arendt EA, Dick RW, Garrett WE, Garrick JG, Hewett TE, Huston L, Ireland ML, Johnson RJ, Kibler WB, Lephart S, Lewis JL, Lindenfeld TN, Mandelbaum BR, Marchak P, Teitz CC, Wojtys EM. Noncontact anterior cruciate ligament injuries: risk factors and prevention strategies. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2000, 8:141-150
- Blackburn JT, Padua DA. Influence of trunk flexion on hip and knee joint kinematics during a controlled drop landing. Clin Biomech 2008, 23:313-319
- Blackburn JT, Padua DA. Sagittal-plane trunk position, landing forces, and quadriceps electromyographic activity. J Athl Training 2009, 44(2):174-179
- Shimokochi Y, Lee SY, Shultz SJ, Schmitz RJ. The relationships among sagittal-plane lower extremity moments: Implications for landing strategy in anterior cruciate ligament injury prevention. J Athl Training 2009, 44(1):33-38
- Arms SW, Pope MH, Johnson RJ, Fischer RA, Arvidsson I, Eriksson E. The biomechanics of anterior cruciate ligament rehabilitation and reconstruction. Am J Sports Med 1984, 12(1):8-18
- More RC, Karras BT, Neiman R, Fritschy D, Woo SL-Y, Daniel DM. Hamstrings an anterior cruciate ligament protagonist. Am J Sports Med 1993, 21(2):231-237
- Pandy MG, Shelburne KB. Dependence of cruciate-ligament loading on muscle forces and external load. J Biomechanics 1997, 30(10):1015-1024
- Paterno MV, Ford KR, Myer GD, Heyl R, Hewett TE. Limb asymmetries in landing and jumping 2 years following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Clin J Sport Med 2007, 17:258-262

Appendix C: Western Research Ethics Approval

Western Research

Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board HSREB Amendment Approval Notice

Principal Investigator: Dr. Alan Getgood Department & Institution: Schulich School of Medicine and Dentistry/Surgery, Western University

Review Type: Full Board HSREB File Number: 104524 Study Title: Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial comparing Anterior Cruciate Lignment Reconstruction With and Without Lateral Extra-articular Tenodesis in Individuals Who Are At High Risk of Graft Failure. Sponsor:

HSREB Amendment Approval Date: March 16, 2017 HSREB Expiry Date: February 07, 2018

Documents Approved and/or Received for Information:

Document Name	Comments	Version Date
Instruments	Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale	2017/02/23
Revised Western University Protocol	Received Mar 23, 2017	
Letter of Information & Consent		2017/02/23

The Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board (HSREB) has reviewed and approved the amendment to the above named study, as of the HSREB Initial Approval Date noted above.

HSREB approval for this study remains valid until the HSREB Expiry Date noted above, conditional to timely submission and acceptance of HSREB Continuing Ethics Review.

The Western University HSREB operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the International Conference on Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Registration of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use Guideline for Good Clinical Practice Practices (ICH E6 R1), the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA, 2004), Part 4 of the Natural Health Product Regulations, Health Canada Medical Device Regulations and Part C, Division 5, of the Food and Drug Regulations of Health Canada.

Members of the HSREB who are named as Investigators in research studies do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on such studies when they are presented to the REB.

The HSREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000910.

shalf of Dr. Joseph Gilbert, HSREB Chair

EO: Erika Basile ____Nicole Kaniki ___ Grace Kelly ___ Katelyn Harris ___ Nicola Morphet ___ Karen Gopaul ___

Appendix D: Letter of Information and Consent



LETTER OF INFORMATION

Title of Research:

Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial comparing Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction With and Without Lateral Extra-articular Tenodesis in Individuals Who Are At High Risk of Graft Failure.

Lead Researchers:

Dr. Alan Getgood	
Dr. Dianne Bryant	

Study Sponsors:

International Society of Arthroscopy, Knee Surgery and Orthopaedic Sports Medicine (ISAKOS) Orthopaedic Research and Education Foundation (OREF)

Information:

You are being invited to participate in a research study because your surgeon has determined that you have a torn anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) and you have elected to undergo surgery to reconstruct this ligament. The purpose of this letter is to provide you with information required for you to make an informed decision regarding participation in this research.

The purpose of this study is to compare outcomes (function, strength, range of motion and quality of life) between patients who receive the usual anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) reconstructive surgery to patients who receive anterior cruciate ligament reconstructive surgery with a lateral extra-articular tenodesis. A lateral extra-articular tenodesis is the creation of a new ligament-like structure using a piece of the Iliotibial (IT) band on the outside of the knee. The usual standard of care for an ACL tear is ACL reconstruction without this lateral extra-articular tenodesis (new ligament-like structure). Some studies have shown high graft failure rates (ACL re-tear) in young individuals who return to pivoting contact sports following ACL reconstruction. This study is designed to look at whether or not adding this extra structure reduces the risk of graft failure in this population. To determine whether one procedure is better than the other, we must randomize (like flipping a coin) you into one of the surgery groups. Six hundred (600) patients will take part in this study at different centres around the world. This centre will recruit one hundred (200) patients; approximately 100 per group.

Eligibility:

To participate in this study you must be 25 years of age or younger. You cannot have had

Patient Initials: _____

previous ACL reconstruction on either knee. You cannot have a multi-ligament injury (two or more ligaments requiring surgery). If you are currently participating in another research study, you must inform your surgeon and the research assistant.

Explanation of the Study Procedures:

The goal of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery is to replace the torn ACL with a tissue graft to provide stability to the knee. This is done through a surgical procedure that is performed arthroscopically (with a camera). Either spinal or general anesthesia is used. Small screws are placed into the bone to hold the tissue graft in place.

If, during the surgery, your surgeon determines that your knee does not meet the requirements for the study i.e. other ligaments are found to be torn, or it cannot be treated using the surgical procedure defined in the study protocol, he/she will withdraw you from the study and you will be treated according to standard practice of your surgeon.

Description of the Study:

The total time commitment of the study is two years. Visits for this study will coincide with follow-up visits that you would already attend with your surgeon after your surgery. Each visit with the surgeon will take approximately 40 minutes of your time. Before your surgery, you will be asked to complete ten questionnaires along with a strength assessment, hop test and range of motion measurement. Following your surgery you will receive instructions to undergo standardized physical therapy. You will be given a Rehabilitation Guide to give to your physical therapist.

After surgery, you will come in for an appointment with your surgeon at 3 months, 6 months, 1 year and 2 years where you will be asked to complete the same nine questionnaires. At that time, we will also measure your range of motion. Completing these questionnaires will take approximately 15 - 20 minutes of your time and collection of range of motion measurements, strength and hop testing will take approximately 45 minutes.

At 6 months, 1 year and 2 years post - surgery, we will measure your strength and assess your ability to perform a series of simple jumping tasks. Strength tests will be performed by bending and extending your knee 3 times to measure your strength against resistance. This is done using a computerized machine called an isokinetic dynamometer. During each test session, you will be seated with your back against a backrest with a seat belt securing you into place.

We will schedule 100 patients (50 from each group) for Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) at or after your 2 year appointment. MRI is a common medical diagnostic tool that uses a strong magnetic field, a low frequency magnetic field and a radio frequency field. The purpose of the MRI is to evaluate the lateral compartment of your knee following your ACL reconstruction. The MRI will take approximately 2 hours of your time and we will schedule and confirm the time and location with you beforehand. If you have undergone a posterior meniscal root repair we will schedule you for MRI testing at or after your 1 year appointment. The purpose of the MRI is to evaluate the healing of your meniscus following its repair. The MRI will take approximately 2 hours of your time and we will schedule and confirm the time and location with you beforehand.

The jumping tests are subdivided into functional tests and biomechanical assessment. The functional tests include a single hop for distance, a timed 6 metre hop test, a triple hop for distance and a crossover hop for distance. The biomechanical assessment will use motion analysis equipment and a clinician rated scale to look at the mechanics of your knee as you perform a vertical jumping task.

The single hop for distance test is performed by having you stand on your leg to be tested, and hop forward on the same leg. The timed 6 metres hop test is performed by having you perform large one - legged hops in series over the 6 metres. The triple hops for distance test is performed by having you stand on one leg and perform three hops in a row on the same leg, landing as far away as possible. The crossover hop for distance is performed by having you hop forward three times while making a "Z' pattern.

The biomechanical assessment will take place in the Wolf Orthopaedic Biomechanics Laboratory (WOBL) at the Fowler Kennedy Sports Medicine Clinic. The task will require you to jump onto a force plate while sensors monitor your movements and muscle activity. These sensors will be placed on your skin over your feet, knees, hips, arms and shoulders using double-sided tape. You will be asked to wear dark (black or navy) shorts and a dark (black or navy) T-shirt or tank top to limit identifiable features and assist with the placement of the sensors. Although the sensors are easily removed, the tape may cause some pulling of hair therefore we may ask to shave some areas with a plastic disposable razor in order to limit discomfort.

After becoming familiarized with the instrumentation we will ask you to perform a double leg drop vertical jump. This task will require you to drop/hop off a box (at an elevated height of 31cm) and land with both legs on a force plate outlined on the ground, following which you will immediately jump vertically as high as you can, as if rebounding a basketball. As you are performing this task, a clinician and a researcher will use a Clinician Rated Drop Vertical Jump Scale to evaluate your landing. Additionally, we will videotape your jump so that the same clinician and researcher can later review the video and re-rate your jump, which will help us determine whether the evaluation of your landing is similar whether it is done in-person or using a video. Only your torso and lower body will be visible in the video.

Alternatives to Participation:

If you do not choose to participate in this study, you will receive the usual ACL reconstructive surgery provided by your surgeon.

3 of 7 | Page

Patient Initials:

Risks:

You could fall, injure or re - injure yourself while performing tests, however, the risks are no greater than those encountered with typical postoperative rehab protocols.

Your participation in this study may involve an MRI. No X-rays are used. As with any technology there is a risk of death or injury. For MRI the risk of death is less than 1 in 10 million and the risk of injury is less than 1 in 100,000. These risks do not arise from the MRI process itself but from a failure to disclose or detect MRI incompatible objects in or around the body of the subject or scanner room. It is therefore very important that you answer all questions honestly and fully on the MRI screening questionnaire.

Almost all the deaths and injuries related to MRI scans have occurred because the MRI operator did not know that surgically implanted metal hardware (such as a cardiac pacemaker) was present inside the subject during the MRI scan. Other Remote risks involve temporary hearing loss from the loud noise inside the magnet. This can be avoided with ear headphone protection that also allows continuous communication between the subject and staff during the scan. For comparison, the risk of death in an MRI is similar to travelling 10 miles by car, while the risk of injury during an MRI is much less than the risks associated with normal daily activities for 1 hour.

If you have any history of head or eye injury involving metal fragments, if you have ever worked in a metal shop or been a soldier, if you have some type of implanted electrical device (such as a cardiac pacemaker), if you have severe heart disease (including susceptibility to arrhythmias), if you are wearing metal braces on your teeth, or [for women] if you could be pregnant, or have an intrauterine device, you should not have an MRI scan.

If you undergo a posterior meniscus root repair and are unable to have an MRI scan you will still be allowed to continue participating in the rest of this study.

There are no other known health risks associated with this study.

Benefits:

There are no direct benefits to you for participating in this study; however your participation will help inform surgeons and physiotherapists as to which surgical procedure offers patients who undergo ACL reconstruction the best outcome.

Cost/Compensation:

You will not be compensated for your participation in this study. You will be responsible for the cost of parking.

Voluntary Participation:

4of7 | Page

Patient Initials:

Your participation in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to participate, refuse to answer any questions or withdraw from the study at any time with no effect on your future care. Should you choose to withdraw from this study, we will keep all data obtained up to the point that you chose to withdraw.

Participation in this study does not prevent you from participating in any other research studies at the present time or future. If you are participating in another research study, we ask that you please inform of us of your participation. You do not waive any legal rights by signing the consent form.

Request for Study Results:

Should you decide to participate and want to receive a copy of the study results, please provide your contact information on a separate piece of paper. Once the study has been published, a copy will be mailed to you. Please note that the results of this study are not expected for at least 5 years. Should your mailing information change, please let us know.

Confidentiality:

All information will be kept confidential to the best of our ability. The company that takes care of the research database is EmPower Health Research. Your identifying information (name, mailing address, phone number, email address, date of birth) is being collected as part of your participation in this study. Your data is protected by a username and password. It travels in a scrambled format to a server (storage computer) that is located in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. The company that houses the server is a professional company (Netelligent) with extremely high standards of physical and virtual security. We want to let you know however, that even with this high level of security, there is always a remote chance that your information. The chance that this information will be accidentally released is small. In any publication, presentation or report, your name will not be used and any information that discloses your identity will not be released or published. We wish to make you aware that Dr. Bryant, who is one of this study's investigators, is the Director of EmPower Health Research. However, Dr. Bryant is not paid a salary by EmPower.

Study data will be kept for seven years. Representatives of The University of Western Ontario Health Sciences Research Ethics Board may contact you or require access to your study-related records to monitor the conduct of the research.

Questions:

If you have questions about the conduct of the study or your rights as a research participant, you may contact Dr. David Hill, Scientific Director, Lawson Health Research Institute (519) 667-6649.

Patient Initials:

If you have questions or concerns about your surgery or physiotherapy, please contact your orthopaedic surgeon or physiotherapist. If you have any questions about this research, please contact or your orthopaedic surgeon.

This letter is yours to keep.

Sincerely,

Dr. Alan Getgood, MD Dr. Dianne Bryant, PhD Stacey Wanlin, Andrew Firth, MSc Ryan Pinto, MSc

6of7|Page

Patient Initials: ____

78



CONSENT FORM

Title of Research:

Multicenter Randomized Clinical Trial comparing Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction With and Without Lateral Extra-articular Tenodesis in Individuals Who Are At High Risk of Graft Failure.

I have read the letter of information, have had the nature of the study explained to me, and I agree to participate in the study. All questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I will receive a copy of the Letter of Information and this signed consent form.

Printed Name of the Participant	Signature of the Participant	Date
Printed Name of the Parent or Legally Authorized Representative (if required)	Signature of the Parent or Legally Authorized Representative (if required)	Date
Printed Name of the	Signature of the Person Person Responsible for	Date

7 of 7 | Page

Patient Initials:



_

I would like to receive a copy of the results of this study.
Please mail to:

8 of 7 | Page

Patient Initials: _____

Curriculum Vitae

NAME Morgan Jennings

EDUCATION

Master of Science:	Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, Physical Therapy
	Collaborative Musculoskeletal Health Research
	Western University, London, Ontario, Canada
	2016-2018

Bachelor of Arts:	Honors Specialization in Kinesiology
	Western University, London, Ontario, Canada
	2011-2015

HONORS AND AWARDS

2017-2018	Province of Ontario Graduate Scholarship
2017-2018	Collaborative Musculoskeletal Health Research Stipend
2016-2017	Western Graduate Research Scholarship
2016	Certificate in recognition of dedicated volunteer service within Sci Rehab Physiotherapy - Sci/FES/Fitness Center at Parkwood Hospital - St. Joseph's Health Care London
2015	National Student Leadership Award Canadian Association of Health Sciences Deans
2011-2015	Western University Dean's Honor List
2015	Certificate of Appreciation for student leadership and significant contribution to the Faculty of Health Sciences, Western University
2011	Western Scholarship of Excellence

RELATED WORK EXPERIENCE

2016	Teaching Assistant Physical Therapy in Physical Therapy Clinics-PT9537 Western University
2016	Research clinic volunteer Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic

2016-2017	Organizing Committee and Abstract Reviewer: Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Graduate Research Conference Committee, Western University
2017	Organizing Committee/Abstract Reviewer: Exercise is Medicine Canada National Student Conference, Western University
2017-2018	VP External Communications, Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Graduate Student Society, Western University
2017-2018	Trainee Representative, Communications Committee, Bone and Joint Institute, Western University
2017-2018	Health Sciences Representative, Trainee Leadership Committee, Bone and Joint Institute, Western University

PUBLICATIONS

Chircorelli, J., Dennie, A., Heinrich, C., Hinchey, B., Honarparvar, F., Jennings, M., Keefe, C., Metro, T.L., Peel, C., Snowdon, C., Tempelman, J., Wong, M.E., Forbes, S.L., & Livingston, L.A. (in press). Canadian student leaders' perspective on interprofessional education: A consensus statement. Journal of Interprofessional Care.

PRESENTATIONS

Accepted Oral Presentation: Presenter, Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Graduate Research Conference, Western University, February 1, 2018.

Invited Oral Presentation: Presenter, Retiring with Strong Minds, Windemere on the Mount, November 3, 2017.

Accepted Oral Presentation: Presenter, 2017 Orthopaedic National Symposium: Stronger Together, October 22, 2017.

Accepted Oral Presentation: Presenter, Exercise is Medicine Canada National Student Conference, Western University, June 24, 2017.

Invited Oral Presentation: Presenter, Fowler Kennedy Sport Medicine Clinic Research Rounds, Western University, May 4, 2017.

Poster Presentation: Presenter, Bone and Joint Musculoskeletal Research Retreat, Western University, May 2, 2017.

Accepted Poster Presentation: Presenter, Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Graduate Research Conference, Western University, February 1, 2017.